

About the Authors



Richard Fontaine is the chief executive officer of the Center for a New American Security (CNAS). He served as president of CNAS from 2012 to 2019 and as senior fellow from 2009 to 2012. Before joining CNAS, he

was foreign policy advisor to Senator John McCain and worked at the State Department, on the National Security Council (NSC), and on the staff of the Senate Foreign Relations Committee.

Fontaine served as foreign policy advisor to the McCain 2008 presidential campaign and subsequently as the minority deputy staff director on the Senate Armed Services Committee. From 2003 to 2004, he served as associate director for Near Eastern affairs at the NSC. He also worked on Southeast Asian issues in the NSC's Asian Affairs directorate.

At the State Department, Fontaine worked for the deputy secretary and in the department's South Asia bureau. He began his foreign policy career as a staff member on the Senate Foreign Relations Committee, focusing on the Middle East and South Asia. Fontaine also spent a year teaching English in Japan.

He currently serves as executive director of the Trilateral Commission and has been an adjunct professor in the security studies program at Georgetown University's School of Foreign Service.



Gibbs McKinley is the research associate to the CEO at CNAS. Her work encompasses U.S. national security, the history of U.S. foreign policy, and global threats to democracy.

McKinley previously worked on the Countering Foreign Authoritarian Influence program in the Center for Global Impact at the International Republican Institute. She also has prior experience working on transatlantic relations, for both CNAS's Transatlantic Security Program and the Brookings Institution's Center on the United States and Europe. McKinley interned with the U.S. Department of State at Embassy Valletta, Malta.

She holds an MA from the Patterson School of Diplomacy and International Commerce at the University of Kentucky, as well as a first-class honors degree in modern history from the University of St. Andrews, Scotland.

Acknowledgments

The authors are grateful to Reuben Brigety, Aaron Connelly, Lisa Curtis, Chris Griffin, Kellie Meiman Hock, Cameron Hudson, Brian Katulis, Kate Johnston, Andrea Kendall-Taylor, Andrew Sanders, and Ashley Tellis for their valuable input on earlier drafts of this report. The authors would also like to thank Amal Altwaijri, Soner Cagaptay, Dhruva Jaishankar, and Derek Mitchell, who, among others, wrote expert working papers. The Yale Foreign Policy Initiative, including James Grindle, Tyler McLemore, Jackson Parrott, Owen Setiawan, and Vittal Sivakumar, contributed valuable background research, as did Hal Rogers. This report would not have been possible without invaluable contributions from CNAS colleagues, including Maura McCarthy, Melody Cook, Emma Swislow, Caroline Steel, and Alina Spatz. This report was made possible with the generous support of the Smith Richardson Foundation.

As a research and policy institution committed to the highest standards of organizational, intellectual, and personal integrity, CNAS maintains strict intellectual independence and sole editorial direction and control over its ideas, projects, publications, events, and other research activities. CNAS does not take institutional positions on policy issues and the content of CNAS publications reflects the views of their authors alone. In keeping with its mission and values, CNAS does not engage in lobbying activity and complies fully with all applicable federal, state, and local laws. CNAS will not engage in any representational activities or advocacy on behalf of any entities or interests and, to the extent that the Center accepts funding from non-U.S. sources, its activities will be limited to bona fide scholastic, academic, and research-related activities, consistent with applicable federal law. The Center publicly acknowledges on its website annually all donors who contribute.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Executive Summary	1
Introduction	3
The Concrete Pillars of Global Order	5
The Backdrop of Intensified Competition	10
The Global Swing States	14
Brazil	14
India	18
Indonesia	21
Saudi Arabia	23
South Africa	26
Türkiye	29
Strategies of Engagement	32
Conclusion	40

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

INTERNATIONAL POLITICS is undergoing a period of rapid, significant change. China and Russia are working together more closely and alongside Iran and North Korea in opposition to what they view as a U.S.-dominated international order.¹ The current U.S. administration has in its early days pursued a form of upheaval, altering key policies, relationships, and arrangements. Policymakers in Washington represent a mix: Some see the rules-based international order as key to U.S. security, prosperity, and liberty, while others argue that any such order exists only to enrich other countries at America's expense.

In contrast to broad, vague notions of what constitutes international order, five concrete pillars have benefited the United States over recent decades. The *territorial order* aims to protect national sovereignty and discourage wars of conquest; the *global trade order* aims to regularize an open international trading system in which prosperity can increase; the *financial order* aims to facilitate international trade and investment, promote monetary stability, and avoid crises; the *nonproliferation order* attempts to limit the spread of nuclear weapons; and the *human rights order* seeks to preserve the basic rights and liberties of individuals everywhere.

Despite the many doubts about them, these core pillars of the international order enhance the security, prosperity, and freedom of Americans. As a result, the overarching goal of U.S. policy should be to preserve them, even as specific rules and institutions change and adapt. Policymakers should work with allies and against adversaries in this attempt, focusing on six "global swing states"—Brazil, India, Indonesia, Saudi Arabia, South Africa, and Türkiye-that together will exert disproportionate influence over the future of the international order. Each of these countries is multi-aligned and determined to maintain ties with the United States, Russia, and China. They all seek to reform existing rules and institutions. Together, they possess the geopolitical weight to sway the future of global order.

This report offers a multifaceted path for engaging with global swing states, aiming U.S. policy at a vision of world order favorable to American interests and values. Informed by more than a year of research and consultations, it offers a set of cross-cutting and country-specific policy recommendations. The broad recommendations include:

Establish minilateral groupings that include the global swing states.

With multilateral bodies largely paralyzed by differences among the veto-wielding powers, minilateral groups—especially those focused on a specific set of issues—offer innovative ways of harmonizing approaches and multiplying efforts among would-be partners. Washington should explore areas in which minilateral groupings could be useful, including technology, critical minerals, defense industrial base cooperation, infrastructure, and maritime domain awareness, and should look to include global swing states.

Define and address unfair commercial practices by state-owned enterprises.

Beijing's state-owned enterprises' (SOEs) market distortions stifle efforts by the United States and several swing states to build or revitalize their manufacturing and industrial sectors. Washington should explore rules that would govern SOE behavior and should work with key swing states to address Chinese overcapacity.

Develop critical minerals partnerships.

The swing states have expressed interest in capitalizing on their natural resources by working with the United States to process and market their minerals.² Washington should prioritize sectoral trade deals in critical minerals with the swing states, and encourage Brazil, Indonesia, and South Africa to join the Minerals Security Partnership (India and Türkiye are already members).

Empower the U.S. Congress.

Washington should work to link parliamentarians, encourage congressional delegations (CODELs) to the six swing states, support fellowships that embed professionals from each of them in U.S. congressional offices, and encourage other visits and exchanges. Subnational contact would also be useful, including visits and exchanges with governors and mayors of key cities.

Launch a program to immerse American officials in the politics and economics of each global swing state.³

U.S. government expertise on the six swing states remains limited, an omission that will make working closely with them challenging. Although some of the six—and the United States itself—may not be receptive to such a program today, the initiative should remain a long-term objective.

Catalyze academic partnerships.

Encourage top-tier U.S. research universities to establish partnerships with leading academic institutions in global swing states.

More important than any particular policy approach is an appreciation for the concrete benefits that key pillars of international order generate for the United States. None is self-reinforcing, and all are under threat. As a result, Washington must be active in the effort to bolster them, despite current doubts about their benefits. That effort requires prioritization, and a focus on the six global swing states points the way.

.....

INTRODUCTION

GLOBAL POLITICS TODAY is more contested, confrontational, and uncertain than at any time since the end of the Cold War. China seeks domination in Asia and beyond, while Russia remains aggressively revisionist in Europe. Both are working with Iran and North Korea in an "axis of upheaval" to resist a Western-dominated world.⁴ Key U.S. allies in Europe and the Indo-Pacific are growing stronger and more unified, but each has doubts about the future—and about America's own trajectory. Policymakers in Washington today represent a mix of those who see the rules-based international order as key to U.S. security, prosperity, and liberty, and others who argue that any such order exists only to enrich other countries at America's expense.

Washington itself is pursuing a form of upheaval. In its first 100 days, the current administration threatened to seize foreign territory, imposed trade barriers on the entire world simultaneously, downplayed the role of democracy and human rights, and hinted at accepting spheres of influence in Eurasia. Whether this pattern will endure remains uncertain. Yet U.S. overtures—to reset relations with Russia, for instance, or perhaps to reach a grand bargain with China—are exceedingly unlikely to succeed in forging a new relationship with either country. Nor will radical revisions to the international order serve American interests better than the existing system, which largely reflects U.S. preferences.

While President Donald Trump's administration is skeptical about the existing order, the axis countries are outright opposed to it. China, Russia, Iran, and North Korea share the goal of overturning the principles, rules, and institutions that underlie the prevailing international system.⁵ These countries chafe at a world that they believe does not recognize their natural spheres of influence, the legitimacy of their autocratic systems, or their status and power. They are determined to create an alternative to an international order they consider to be dominated by the United States.⁶ As a result, the long-run competition between the United States and its allies on the one hand, and a revisionist axis of upheaval on the other, will largely represent a contest over the shape of international order.

While conceptions of international order are often broad and even vague, five key pillars are specific and concrete. The *territorial order* aims to protect national sovereignty and discourage wars of conquest. The global *trade order* aims to regularize an open international trading system in which prosperity can increase. The *financial order* aims to facilitate international trade and investment, promote monetary stability, and avoid crises. The *nonproliferation order* attempts to limit the spread of nuclear weapons. The *human rights order* seeks to preserve the basic rights and liberties of individuals everywhere.

Despite the many doubts, including in the current U.S. administration, the United States benefits from, and has a vital interest in maintaining, a global order governed by rules rather than brute power, one in which countries enjoy sovereignty, disputes are resolved peacefully, markets are open to trade, human rights are considered universal, and democracy can flourish. Since the 1940s, Washington has opposed hostile spheres of influence, especially in Eurasia, precisely because they threaten the United States' desired rules-based order.⁷ The current order has downsides, to be sure, and it has produced discontent among populations and policymakers. Yet the rules-based international order is also a bit like democracy: the worst system except for all the others.

Because the core pillars of the international order enhance the security, prosperity, and freedom of Americans, the overarching goal of U.S. policy should be to preserve them even as specific rules and institutions change and adapt. This objective yields two tasks: first, to reform the pillars—their rules and institutions—to advance U.S. interests and values; second, to create incentives for pivotal countries to embrace the pillars. This report is focused largely on the latter, while recognizing the interplay between the two.

Policymakers should focus on six global swing states—Brazil, India, Indonesia, Saudi Arabia, South Africa, and Türkiye—that together will exert disproportionate influence over the future of international order. Each of the six is multi-aligned, maintaining simultaneous ties with the United States, Russia, and China. None wishes to be forced into a strategic alignment with one great power alone, and all seek meaningful changes in international rules and institutions. Each of the global swing states plays a dominant role in its region and takes actions with worldwide repercussions. They possess sufficient collective geopolitical weight for their policy preferences to sway the future direction of the international order.

The United States should prioritize these countries in its foreign policy. It should encourage swing state

.....

governments to choose policies that reflect the core principles of international order, and it should work to deny advantages to the axis states. That, in turn, requires dealing with each not simply as a pawn in great power competition but as an important country in its own right, with interests and activities that may differ from, but that can ultimately align with, those of the United States. Washington should work with all six on issues such as military basing, digital infrastructure, trade arrangements, global norms, and the future of international institutions.

This report offers a path for engaging with global swing states toward a vision of world order favorable to U.S. interests. It builds on the original 2012 Center for a New American Security (CNAS) report that highlighted four of the current six countries, arguing that a U.S. focus on Brazil, India, Indonesia, and Türkiye could deliver a large geopolitical payoff.⁸ The list now has expanded to include Saudi Arabia and South Africa, given their increased economic and diplomatic heft. International competition today is far more acute than 13 years ago, the shape of international order much more contested, the U.S. role more uncertain, the stakes even higher, and, as a result, the potential role of global swing states in the outcome even greater.

4

THE CONCRETE PILLARS OF GLOBAL ORDER

IT WAS ONCE AXIOMATIC among Washington policymakers that an international order exists, that it serves American interests, and that the order is worth defending and preserving. No longer. In recent years, some analysts have argued that the liberal international order is a myth, and that there exists nothing to defend or preserve.9 Others, including some Trump administration officials, hold that the global order exists but has harmed, not helped, Americans by encouraging U.S. overextension and endless wars, driving mass migration, offshoring manufacturing jobs, and diluting the unifying bond of nationalism.¹⁰ At the same time, revisionist countries such as Russia and China bristle at what they see as an unfairly U.S.dominated international order that does not accord them the weight, status, freedom of action, and spheres of influence that their power and civilization demand. And still others, including the global swing states, lament the underrepresentation of middle power countries in key international institutions and resent what some see as little more than a mask for Western domination.

Some of the debate is definitional. Policymakers imply a wide range of concepts by invoking "international order," the "liberal international order," the "rules-based international order," or some other variant. Yet its importance goes far beyond the rhetorical. There exists an identifiable international order today based on principles in multiple domains that are instantiated in rules and rooted in institutions that seek to apply them. Some pillars of this order are under greater pressure than others, but together they have served U.S. interests well across multiple decades.

Much of the glue that binds the United States and its allies is a common appreciation of global order and a determination to see it endure. Russia, China, Iran, and North Korea are vastly different countries that have nevertheless united in their desire to revise the existing order. And the global swing states all seek specific changes to key elements of it. In many ways, today's geopolitical era—with its great power competition, alliances and axis, middle powers, competition and cooperation—is a struggle over the shape of tomorrow's world. That is, it is a contest for global order.

The international order comprises numerous elements, but five pillars today are key:

1. The territorial order aims to protect national sovereignty and discourage wars of conquest. It enshrines a prohibition against the forcible change of national borders and holds, as a cardinal principle, that attempts to seize and annex land by force are prohibited. It also includes rules underpinning a maritime order, many of which have been formalized in the UN Convention on the Law of the Sea (UNCLOS).¹¹ While some countries, including the United States, have not ratified the convention, Washington and most major capitals recognize its key

provisions—rules on the limits of territorial waters, an exclusive economic zone (EEZ), and freedom of navigation on the high seas—as customary international law. Other countries, such as China, have ratified the convention but violate it in practice.

U.S. naval power continues to backstop international law governing the use of the maritime domain, and forcible violations of the territorial order on land—such as Iraq's 1990 invasion of Kuwait and Russia's 2022 invasion of Ukraine have spurred the use of American military power.

> It was once axiomatic among Washington policymakers that an international order exists, that it serves American interests, and that the order is worth defending and preserving. No longer.

Recent U.S. pronouncements, for example the desire to seize Greenland and annex Canada—even if not totally serious—chip away at this norm. The territorial order has served U.S. interests by helping to prevent wars of conquest, the two largest of which drew in the United States during the first half of the 20th century.

2. The global trade order aims to regularize an open international trading system in which prosperity can increase. It is grounded in the General Agreement on Tariffs and Trade (GATT) and embodied in the World Trade Organization (WTO) and its web of rules and dispute resolution mechanisms. Increasingly, legally binding rules established in bilateral and regional trade agreements shape the contours of international trade. Those rules are also increasingly flouted, including by the United States. Nevertheless, the trade system has benefited the United States, by allowing it and other states to acquire resources peacefully and boost prosperity without either conquering territory or enforcing closed economic blocs.

The trade pillar is currently under significant pressure. The Doha Round of global trade talks was

the WTO's last effort toward international trade liberalization, and those talks were declared dead by members in 2015.¹² In the place of global trade frameworks, regional and bilateral agreements have proliferated, with the United States spurning multilateral trade agreements for more than a decade. Multiple U.S. administrations have moved to weaken the WTO's dispute resolution mechanisms, and the Trump administration has imposed tariffs on countries even when those tariffs violate WTO rules or commitments made in U.S.-signed agreements. Trump's April 2025 announcement of high tariffs on most of the world was widely interpreted as an effort to upend the global trading order.

3. The financial order aims to facilitate international trade and investment, promote monetary stability, and avoid crises. This pillar is rooted in the U.S. dollar as the predominant international reserve currency, flexible exchange rates, and general currency convertibility. The International Monetary Fund (IMF) fills a role as a lender of last resort. In recent years, China and Russia have promoted alternatives to dollar dominance in both trade transactions and reserve holdings. Countries, including the global swing states, on occasion support such alternatives, given their own susceptibility to unilateral U.S.-imposed financial sanctions. But efforts such as denominating transactions in renminbi (RMB) or creating a currency for the bloc originally comprising Brazil, Russia, India, China, and South Africa (BRICS), and which now also includes Egypt, Ethiopia, Indonesia, Iran, and the United Arab Emirates, have done little to replace dollar centrality.

The Trump administration has defended this pillar of the economic order with vigor, threatening steep tariffs on countries that seek to replace the U.S. dollar.¹⁴ The financial order benefits the United States; the global demand to hold dollars allows the United States to issue debt at a lower cost than would otherwise be the case and to use financial sanctions as a potent tool of foreign policy. Institutions such as the IMF have helped avoid or respond to financial crises, reducing the chances of contagion and spreading the cost of responding to include other wealthy countries.



4. The nonproliferation order attempts to limit the spread of nuclear weapons. The Treaty on the Non-Proliferation of Nuclear Weapons (NPT) draws a strict distinction between recognized nuclear weapons states and all others. This pillar includes the International Atomic Energy Agency (IAEA) and the four multilateral export control regimes-the Wassenaar Arrangement, the Nuclear Suppliers Group, the Australia Group, and the Missile Technology Control Regime-that attempt to limit the proliferation of particular weapons and delivery systems. Some countries-India, Pakistan, and North Korea, for instance-have acquired nuclear arms outside the NPT framework, and others, such as Iran, threaten to do so in the future.

The United States has played a key role over the years in seeking (not always with success) to prevent non-NPT states, particularly those hostile to Washington, from acquiring nuclear weapons and delivery systems. The Trump administration has, for instance, both negotiated with Tehran and used force after it assessed that diplomatic efforts to end its nuclear program failed.¹⁵ The nonproliferation order benefits the United States

by reducing the number of nuclear-armed hostile countries to fewer than what would likely be the case otherwise, and by enhancing relative U.S. military power.

5. The human rights order seeks to preserve the basic rights and liberties of individuals everywhere. These rights are enumerated in documents such as the Universal Declaration on Human Rights and the UN Convention on Civil and Political Rights, along with the constitutions and laws of many democracies. Moscow and Beijing actively reject the existence of universal values, even as their own constitutions nominally guarantee the rights to speech, assembly, political activity, and association.¹⁶ China and Russia are not alone in asserting that criticism of abuses amounts to impermissible interference in their domestic affairs, and both countries have recently claimed that they, too, are democracies-simply of a different sort.

The promotion of human rights has represented an element of U.S. foreign policy since at least the late 1970s, though its application has been inconsistent. Washington has lurched in recent years, with the spectrum of policy stretching from President Joe Biden's claim that the world's democracies and dictatorships were locked in competition to President Trump's relative indifference to human rights in foreign countries. The expansion of basic rights and liberties has benefited the United States by increasing the number of like-minded democracies, making the preservation of freedom at home easier than would be the case in a world replete with autocratic predators.

In contrast to some abstract notion of an undifferentiated "liberal international order," these pillars generate concrete benefits for the United States and many other countries. By prohibiting territorial aggression, promoting generally free trade, enshrining dollar dominance, restricting the spread of nuclear weapons, and protecting norms of human rights and democracy, the existing international order reflects U.S. interests and preferences. This interlocking web of global rules, institutions, and relationships has fostered peace, prosperity, and freedom for multiple decades. Currently under pressure in virtually every corner of the world, including in the United States itself, the pillars may well benefit from new and different rules, differently weighted institutions, and more countries involved in their defense. The principles that underlie each, however, should endure. Productive ties to the global swing states, now and over the long run, can assist in that effort.

The United States retains interests in its relations with the six global swing states that lie outside the pillars of international order. For instance, China pursues a global basing strategy that could alter the military balance of power in key regions and constrict U.S. freedom of action. It also funds the establishment of digital infrastructure that empowers Beijing at the expense of Western providers. Russia seeks to displace the United States and Europe in regions of the global south, offering itself as a no-conditions security and economic partner. Both China and Russia foster an anti-Western narrative that seeks solidarity with countries that may feel similarly resentful of U.S. global leadership. These and other issues will remain contested and should represent areas of focus for Washington in its relations with the six global swing states.

What's in a Name? Defining a Global Swing State

The first CNAS report on global swing states defined them with an analogy to domestic U.S. politics. In the American political context, swing states are those whose mixed political orientation gives them a greater impact than their population or economic output might warrant. Such states promise the greatest return on investment for U.S. presidential campaigns deciding where to allocate scarce time and resources. Likewise, in U.S. foreign policy, a focus on Brazil, India, Indonesia, Saudi Arabia, South Africa, and Türkiye can deliver a large geopolitical payoff. These countries boast outsized economic, diplomatic, and geopolitical heft by comparison with other emerging and middle powers. Their multi-aligned relationships with great powers and their differentiated approach to the pillars of global order distinguish them from the Western bloc or the axis of

upheaval. Their choices may, however, decisively influence the trajectory of the current international order.¹⁷ And their varying relationships with Moscow and Beijing are of significant interest to Washington.

Since its inception, multiple analysts have adopted the global swing states concept, adapting it to issues as varied as transatlantic relations and internet governance.¹⁸ Some countries affirm the label—Brazilian policymakers, for instance, have tended to see the term as validating the global role that Brasilia seeks to play. Others have not—Turkish policymakers and analysts express concern that the term "swing state" suggests that Ankara is uncertain or indecisive about its interests, and they insist that Türkiye does not "swing" between paths.¹⁹ Still others come down elsewhere. A prominent Indian analyst, for example, maintains that India was a global swing state a decade or so ago but is not one today.²⁰

The framework of a global swing states concept intends neither to connote irresolution nor to demarcate some new international grouping like the Group of 7 (G7) or BRICS. Instead, it aims to clarify Washington's foreign policy priorities. Outside key U.S. allies and adversaries, these are the countries that will matter most in fashioning the world to come. They deserve disproportionate time, attention, and potentially resources from the United States. In a world riven by multiple, simultaneous competitions with major powers, Washington cannot treat every country alike in its foreign policy. Outside allies, on the one hand, and adversaries, on the other, the six global swing states are countries on which the United States should focus most.



Figure 2: Percentage of Global Gross Domestic Product Based on Purchasing Power Parity²¹ The combined heft of the global swing states' economic output is significant, giving the countries collective influence over the trajectory of the current international order.

Figure 3: An Alternative World Order?²²

The swing states participate in both traditional international institutions and newer ones that seek to provide alternatives.



9

THE BACKDROP OF INTENSIFIED COMPETITION

AFTER INVADING UKRAINE in 2022, Russian President Vladimir Putin stated that, "The Ukraine crisis is not a territorial conflict. . . . It is about the principles on which the new international order will be based."²³ The next year, standing alongside Putin, Chinese Communist Party General Secretary Xi Jinping added, "Right now there are changes—the likes of which we haven't seen for 100 years—and we are the ones driving those changes together."²⁴ In a lengthy May 2024 joint statement, Xi and Putin made their long-term goals clear. "Russian-Chinese relations," they wrote, "stand the test of rapid changes in the world, demonstrating strength and stability, and are experiencing the best period in their history.... [We] intend to increase interaction and tighten coordination in order to counter Washington's destructive and hostile course towards the so-called 'dual containment' of our countries."25 Such remarks illustrate the increasingly competitive backdrop against which U.S. foreign policy plays out.

China and Russia have steadily deepened their relationship since the conclusion of the Cold War, a process that sharply accelerated after Russia annexed Crimea in 2014. Between 2013 and 2021, China's share of Russian external trade doubled from 10 to 20 percent. At the same time, Russia's arms exports to China were substantial—from 2018 to 2011, Russia supplied a combined total of 83 percent of China's imported weaponry. Russian military technology has played a critical role in boosting China's air defense, antiship, and submarine capabilities, strengthening China's position in any potential naval confrontation. Increasingly, Beijing and Moscow also articulate a common strategic vision. In early 2022, Putin and Xi declared a "no limits" partnership, promoting an "international relations of a new type"—essentially advocating for a multipolar world no longer dominated by the United States.²⁶

Compounding the challenge, China and Russia are joined by Iran and North Korea in efforts to create alternatives to the prevailing order. As then-Secretary of State Antony Blinken argued in 2024, the revisionist powers "are determined to alter the foundational principles of the international system" and share a goal of "diminishing U.S. influence . . . and rolling back liberal democracy."27 In March 2025, the director of national intelligence's annual threat assessment stated: "Russia, China, Iran and North Korea-individually and collectively-are challenging U.S. interests in the world by attacking or threatening others in their regions, with both asymmetric and conventional hard power tactics, and promoting alternative systems to compete with the United States, primarily in trade, finance, and security."28

Each of these four nations asserts a sphere of influence: China includes Taiwan and the South China Sea in its "core interests"; Iran views its proxies in Iraq, Lebanon, Syria, Yemen, and elsewhere as an "axis of resistance"; North Korea claims the entire Korean Peninsula; and Russia includes, at a minimum, the countries that constituted its historic empire in a "near abroad." The United States is perceived by all four countries as the primary obstacle to establishing these spheres of influence, and they all seek a reduction in Washington's presence in their respective regions.

All reject the principle of universal values and interpret Western democracy promotion as an effort to erode their legitimacy and destabilize their domestic politics. Each maintains that sovereign nations should have the authority to define democracy for themselves as opposed to a common standard. They resist the expansion of U.S. alliances, reject American nuclear weapons being stationed abroad, and denounce the use of sanctions. Working together, the four enhance their military capabilities; weaken the impact of U.S. foreign policy tools, such as sanctions and export controls; and obstruct Washington and its allies from upholding international norms. Even if they temporarily cooperate with the United States, they remain convinced that the West will never truly accept their rise—or return—to power on the world stage.

This axis of upheaval is emerging as a new pole of global power that appeals to nations discontented with the present system. They are together shaping a world increasingly defined by two distinct and competing orders.²⁰ They also seek partners, and while the global swing states will not make an overarching strategic choice to join the axis or the West, their loyalties and policy preferences will constitute a commons for rivalry. As the 2025 director of national intelligence report put it, there is "pressure on other global actors to choose sides."³⁰

Just as the United States, China, and Russia compete for influence in the global swing states, the six countries themselves will act nimbly to maximize their freedom of action amid the great powers. They can be expected to pursue economic, diplomatic, military, and technological ties with members of both groups. U.S. policymakers should make it a priority to deny advantages to the axis in these countries, encouraging swing state governments to choose policies that favor the prevailing order. In practice, that means using trade incentives, military engagement, foreign aid, and diplomacy to prevent swing states from hosting axis members' military bases, giving axis members access to their technology infrastructure or military equipment, or helping them circumvent Western sanctions.31

The emergence of alternative institutions is compounding the degree of contestation over the shape of the international order. The BRICS, for example, which was established in 2009 and brought together Brazil, Russia, China, India, and eventually South Africa—was for years disregarded as too diverse and ideologically incoherent to offer a real alternative to existing institutions.³² It still struggles, at times, to define clear goals, and its members have competing interests—especially on security and trade policy.³³ Yet the BRICS has recently expanded significantly



Pictured from left: Brazilian President Luiz Inácio Lula da Silva, Chinese Communist Party General Secretary Xi Jinping, South African President Cyril Ramaphosa, Indian Prime Minister Narendra Modi, and Russian Foreign Minister Sergei Lavrov at the 15th BRICS summit, held in Johannesburg, South Africa, in 2023. The summit saw agreement to admit six new member countries: Argentina (which later declined), Egypt, Ethiopia, Iran, Saudi Arabia (which has so far delayed officially joining), and the United Arab Emirates. The group's expansion is a challenge to the existing world order. (Gianluigi Guercia/Pool/AFP via Getty Images)

and is attempting to establish itself as a forum to coordinate new economic and diplomatic projects.

In 2014, the group announced the New Development Bank to complement existing international institutions and provide a financial safety net for its members.³⁴ The bank aims to make the global financial architecture more favorable for emerging economies, including by expanding projects financed in local currencies-which it has done with limited success.³⁵ Russia saw a greater diplomatic purpose in the grouping after it annexed Crimea that same year. Putin has twice hosted BRICS summits-in 2015 and again in 2024, following Russia's invasion of Ukraine—to demonstrate that the Kremlin is not politically isolated, despite the West's best efforts.³⁶ In July 2024, during Russia's BRICS presidency, Putin described his aim as being to overthrow the "classic colonialism" of the U.S.-led order.37

The emergence of alternative institutions is compounding the degree of contestation over the shape of the international order.

The BRICS expansion in 2024 to include Egypt, Ethiopia, Iran, and the United Arab Emirates, as well as Indonesia in 2025, has only increased the group's economic power and influence. The 10 member countries represent roughly 35 percent of global gross domestic product (GDP) in purchasing power parity terms, outpacing the G7's 30.3 percent, and 45 percent of the world's population resides in BRICS countries—in contrast to less than 10 percent in the G7 countries.³⁸ The group's reach and coherence remains limited. But with the likely addition of Saudi Arabia, the BRICS will take one more step in its attempt to become a viable counterweight to existing multilateral institutions.

The Belt and Road Initiative (BRI), announced by China in 2013, represents another effort at generating alternatives. The BRI aims to strengthen China's global connectivity through infrastructure investments, expand Chinese influence in key countries, and counter that of the United States.³⁹ China has since invested billions of dollars in infrastructure through the initiative—quickly surpassing U.S. efforts.⁴⁰ Four of the six countries identified in this study, excluding Brazil and India, participate in the initiative and have accepted varying levels of funding through it from China. As part of the BRI, China also established the Asian Infrastructure Investment Bank (AIIB), whose membership has expanded to include countries that do not participate in the Belt and Road. Like the BRICS and the BRI, the AIIB provides alternatives to lending institutions such as the World Bank.

China successfully shaped a "mega-regional" trade deal, the Regional Comprehensive Economic Partnership (RCEP), signed in late 2020 after eight years of talks. The agreement represents the world's largest regional trade agreement, as measured by its share of global trade, GDP, and population-and stands in contrast to the United States' withdrawal from the Trans-Pacific Partnership (TPP).41 Though the RCEP represents a low-standards deal in contrast to high-quality agreements such as the Comprehensive and Progressive Agreement for Trans-Pacific Partnership (CPTPP), it nevertheless allows China to shape trade rules in the region. Instead of forging its own high-quality pacts, the United States in recent years has instead focused on tariffs, export controls, and other defensive economic measures.

Since its inception in 2001, the Shanghai Cooperation Organization (SCO)—which the U.S.-China Economic and Security Review Commission identifies as "a test bed for Chinese power projection"—has expanded to nine full members, including India in 2017.⁴² Türkiye, unique among NATO nations, has expressed interest in joining the SCO.⁴³ If it did so, a U.S. military ally would be joining an organization that in 2023 admitted Iran as a full member. While one should not overestimate the SCO's geopolitical importance, it nevertheless illustrates one more alternative to existing international frameworks.

None of these initiatives on their own offer a viable alternative to the existing global system—even together, they remain a far cry from the system of multilateral institutions that form the backbone of the current rules-based world order. It is, however, increasingly likely that smaller states will seek opportunities outside of existing institutions if these fail to offer emerging and middle powers the representation and economic access they crave. This, in turn, will put additional pressure on the key pillars of international order. The current wild card in this changing geopolitical game is the United States itself. The United States created and has invested in the international order because it reflects American preferences and extends U.S. influence. Washington has long defended the pillars of international order because they serve its interests and accord with its values. This approach can no longer be assumed.

Since taking office for the second time in January 2025, President Trump has nodded toward a spheres-of-influence world rather than a strict territorial order. While noting that Russia's invasion of Ukraine took place across the ocean-a long way away from the homeland-he has repeatedly suggested that the United States should acquire Greenland, Canada, and the Panama Canal, with or without the consent of their people.⁴⁴ At the same time, the Trump administration has imposed tariffs on many countries in violation of WTO rules and U.S. trade agreementseven the Trump-negotiated U.S.-Mexico-Canada Agreement.⁴⁵ Trump has downplayed human rights abuses in foreign countries and has taken a more narrowly construed approach to nonproliferation, seeking to prevent hostile powers such as Iran from getting nuclear weapons but expressing far less alarm than his predecessor at the prospect of allies such as South Korea acquiring an arsenal.46

What to make of all these moves remains unclear. It seems extraordinarily unlikely that the United States will invade Greenland or annex Canada, actions akin to Putin's violation of the territorial order. Even as the current U.S. administration suggests its own territorial acquisitions, it has maintained the flow of weapons and intelligence (despite a brief interregnum) to Ukraine as it resists Russia. The administration's imposition of tariffs appears infinitely variable and may serve mostly to increase

leverage in forthcoming negotiations. Trump may, as in his first term, speak up about human rights abuses in countries such as Venezuela and China while remaining quieter about transgressions among friends such as Saudi Arabia—and he would not be the first U.S. president to embrace the inconsistency.

In the research for this project, analysts more than once observed, semi-jokingly, that the United States itself may now be the quintessential global swing state. Does Washington wish to preserve world order or upend it? Time will tell whether the Trump administration rejects the traditional rules-based order and embraces some alternative. The likeliest outcome appears to be that no overall strategy and no alternative vision informs the administration's foreign policy views. Instead, U.S. foreign policy currently stems from a combination of perceived immediate security

The current wild card in this changing geopolitical game is the United States itself.

concerns, a cramped reading of trade economics, a penchant for deal-making, the desire for a generally peaceful international environment, and a need to make highly visible announcements that will resonate among the president's supporters. If this reading is correct, the pillars of global order will remain, albeit indifferently supported by the United States, and they will continue to serve American interests. Countries such as Russia and China will continue to resist their application and seek alternatives that serve their autocratic systems and desires for regional dominance. The contest will endure, with the six global swing states continuing to play a disproportionately important role in the outcome.

.....

THE GLOBAL SWING STATES

THE SIX GLOBAL SWING STATES differ in innumerable ways, but they share striking commonalities. Brazil, India, Indonesia, Saudi Arabia, South Africa, and Türkiye are all multi-aligned regional powers that fit neatly and exclusively into neither the Western bloc nor the axis of upheaval. Each is a regional heavyweight and takes actions with global resonance. All actively pursue institutional reform of global governance, including greater representation for countries like themselves. All are Group of 20 (G20) members, with large populations and sizable economies, and all are members of collective bodies-the BRICS, the Quadrilateral Security Dialogue involving Australia, India, Japan, and the United States (Quad), NATO, the Gulf Cooperation Council, the Association of Southeast Asian Nations (ASEAN), the African Unionwhere they tend to hold outsized weight. None of the six sanctioned Russia after its invasion of Ukraine, China is a top trade partner of all, and each has longstanding and often complicated relations with the United States.

This section examines the positions of each of the global swing states with respect to the great powers, in key international institutions, and toward the pillars of international order in which they play the most significant roles.

Brazil

Brazil boasts a population of 214 million—roughly one-third of South America's total—and the largest landmass and GDP on the continent. It claims a significant role in world trade as the leading producer of soybeans, beef, and iron ore.⁴⁷ Brazil has taken on leadership roles in multilateral institutions, including the presidencies of the G20 and BRICS groups in 2024 and 2025, respectively, and hosting the UN Climate Change Conference (COP30) in late 2025.⁴⁸

Brazil is a longstanding democracy and an active participant in the global order. At the same time, it is a vocal advocate for reforming the current international system to achieve what it perceives as a more just distribution of power.⁴⁹ It has sought to act as a voice for the global south, including the swing states identified in this report. As president of one of the most influential global south countries, Luiz Inácio Lula da Silva's vocal demands to reform the global financial system and criticisms of the West's handling of Ukraine and Gaza give voice to broader perspectives.⁵⁰

Nonalignment is a well-established policy in Brazil that permeates the country's government and shapes key decision-makers' choices. Officials in Brasilia take a largely pragmatic approach to the great powers, aiming to achieve the most favorable economic and political outcomes for Brazil rather than picking sides. Brazil has sought where possible to act as a bridge among the United States, Russia, and China including acting as a mediator in the Russia-Ukraine war.

Brazil has recently pursued a relationship with Russia in part to implement its strategy of active nonalignment.⁵¹ The two countries have had a "strategic partnership" since 2002, and Brasilia looks to Moscow as an ally in its efforts to reform the international system. The Russian ambassador to Brazil in July 2024 publicly supported its candidacy for permanent United Nations Security Council (UNSC) membership, and both countries were founding members of the BRICS.⁵² The relationship also stems from economic necessity; Brazil relies on Russia for a quarter of its fertilizer imports, which are crucial for the country's agribusiness—a backbone of its economy.⁵³ Brazil's dependence on Russian fertilizer appears to have discouraged it from wholly condemning Moscow's invasion of Ukraine.

Brazil and China recently celebrated 50 years of diplomatic relations and have enjoyed a "Global Strategic Partnership" since 2012.⁵⁴ Brasilia sees a likeminded partner in China when it comes to reforming the rules-based order. It cooperates with Beijing in the BRICS group, supporting China's expansion agenda partially in hopes that Beijing might eventually support its seat on the UNSC.⁵⁵ High-profile engagements abound, with Xi and Lula upgrading the status of diplomatic relations during a state visit to Brasilia in November 2024.⁵⁶

Brazil also looks to China for economic opportunity and global political influence. China has been Brazil's number one trade partner since 2009, and total bilateral trade increased 37-fold from 2003 to 2022, reaching \$152.8 billion in 2022.⁵⁷ Against U.S. wishes, Brazil welcomed Huawei's buildout of the domestic 5G network and continues to court Chinese technology investment, including in the semiconductor industry.⁵⁸ Chinese investment in Brazil reached almost \$80 billion between 2003 and 2022, multiples more than any other Latin American country and two-and-a-half times more than the second-largest regional destination for Chinese investment, Peru.⁵⁹ Much of this investment is in extractives and infrastructure, placing Brazil in the crosshairs of U.S.-China competition and emblematic of Brazil's position as a nonaligned emerging power. Brazil chose not to sign on to China's Belt and Road Initiative in October 2024, instead seeking alternative ways to collaborate with Chinese investors.⁶⁰ Brazil aims to benefit from U.S.-China competition, as when it increased soybean exports to China after the trade war initiated during Trump's first term.⁶¹

As the world's fourth-largest democracy, Brazil shares values with the United States in a way that it does not with either Russia or China. Brasilia and Washington have engaged on shared priorities such as democracy, human rights, and climate change.⁶² These issues hinge, however, on the ideological preferences of those in power. They diminished in priority under the administrations of Jair Bolsonaro and Trump, for instance, and can easily fall by the wayside. The two countries retain robust military-to-military ties, dating to World War I, and recent years have seen increased interoperability exercises and defense agreements in science and technology.⁶³

Economic ties have proven durable. The United States is the primary destination for Brazilian exports of manufactured goods and the top source of Brazil's



Chinese Communist Party General Secretary Xi Jinping and Brazil's President Luiz Inácio Lula da Silva prepare to sign bilateral agreements at Alvorada Palace in Brasilia on November 20, 2024. Xi's productive state visit to Brazil highlighted Brasilia's intent to balance between the great powers. (Evaristo Sa/AFP via Getty Images)

foreign direct investment.⁶⁴ The United States is Brazil's second-largest trade partner after China and should remain an important economic partner well into the future, even with recent tariff increases and national security–focused Section 232 investigations in sectors such as critical minerals and lumber.⁶⁵ In contrast to its trade with China, which relies on low-value exports,

As the world's fourth-largest democracy, Brazil shares values with the United States in a way that it does not with either Russia or China.

the majority of Brazilian exports to the United States are job-producing, high value-added manufactured goods.⁶⁶ Bilateral economic ties remain, however, below their potential. "Custo Brazil," or the "Brazil Cost" referring to the high tax burden and level of difficulty in producing or selling in Brazil—impedes progress in U.S.-Brazil trade and investment.⁶⁷ The Trump administration's protectionist tendencies add another layer of complexity.

TERRITORY. Sovereignty and the fundamental equality of states in the international system are enshrined in Brazil's constitution.⁶⁸ Brazil remains wary of a global order that it sees as privileging the United States and is cautious of using punitive measures such as sanctions to turn an aggressor state into an international pariah.⁶⁹ This view has, at times, brought Brazil into conflict with an order that censures violations of sovereign territory.

In the case of Russia's invasion of Ukraine, for example, Brazil initially refused to condemn Russia's actions and abstained from the 2014 UN resolution on the Russian annexation of Crimea.70 It has since taken a stronger stance in the face of Russia's expanded violation of Ukraine's territory in 2022, voting in favor of UN resolutions demanding Russia's unconditional withdrawal from Ukraine. Brazil also voted in favor of the February 2023 UN General Assembly resolution calling on Russia to withdraw to its internationally recognized borders, the only BRICS country to do so.71 However, it criticized other countries' wholesale use of sanctions and has repeatedly refused to sell weapons to Ukraine, offering only to broker peace with Russia and presenting a joint proposal for negotiations with China.72

In its own region, Brazil recently has taken a stronger stance on territorial aggression. It has supported Guyana's sovereignty over the Essequibo region claimed by Venezuela. After Caracas suggested interest in acquiring its neighbor's territory, Brazil moved military forces to the region bordering Venezuela and Guyana, signaling that it could deploy military force.⁷³

Brazil has also taken steps to support global maritime security, including in the Red Sea where, in command of Combined Task Force 151, it has led anti-piracy missions in the region.⁷⁴ Brazilian forces participate in the biennial U.S. Southern Command–sponsored PANAMAX exercise, which improves the interoperability of forces that would defend the Panama Canal.⁷⁵ Brazil has partnered with the United States to share and exchange maritime tactics, techniques, and procedures and is a signatory to UNCLOS.

TRADE. As a founding member of the WTO and its predecessor GATT, Brazil is a longstanding supporter of the international trade order. Brazilian diplomat Roberto Azevedo led the WTO for seven years and Brazil has often deployed the WTO's dispute resolution system.⁷⁶ Brasilia sought to address U.S. and EU agricultural subsidies to further the interests of its agricultural industry and achieved notable victories in the WTO, including its case against Washington on cotton subsidies.⁷⁷ Consistent with its overarching policy, Brazil has regularly sought greater representation for the global south in institutions such as the WTO, and it advocates for positions broadly supportive of emerging markets.⁷⁸

Despite its participation in multilateral trade institutions, Brazil has long retained a notoriously closed economy. It has leveraged industrial policy and the regional trade bloc Mercado Común del Sur (MERCOSUR, or "Southern Common Market") to protect domestic industries. MERCOSUR features a single external tariff, with peaks on sensitive items, and it facilitates trade within the bloc.⁷⁹ Despite the protectionist trendline globally, there has been guarded optimism that after 25 years of negotiations, a MERCOSUR–European Union trade deal might finally come to fruition, creating a market of 700 million people by dropping tariffs on more than 90 percent of goods.⁸⁰ However, the deal still faces hurdles, including from European agricultural interests and the Brazilian and Argentine auto industries. Policymakers in Brasilia are adamant that Brazil still believes in trade agreements as a path toward economic development, but the current inflection point in global trade means the country is not likely to pursue other avenues to liberalize its trade practices anytime soon.⁸¹

FINANCE. Brazil plays an active role in the global financial architecture and has invested heavily in the development and maintenance of the World Bank and the IMF. The Inter-American Development Bank is run by former Brazil Central Bank governor Ilan Goldfajn. At the same time, Brasilia is a vocal proponent of reforming the terms of the system to better match today's financial landscape and reflect the emergence of a multipolar system, and Brazil is an outspoken supporter of tax policies to address income inequality globally.

While the BRICS effort in this regard is limited, Brazil has often sought alternatives to the U.S. dollar as the world's reserve currency. It believes that dollar dominance allows the United States to influence fiscal and monetary policy to an unacceptable extent, and a 2024 poll showed that 81 percent of Brazilians disapprove of U.S. dollar dominance.⁸² President Lula called for developing countries to replace the dollar with domestic currencies in cross-border transactions.83 As it looks to reduce its reliance on U.S. dollars in trade and financial relations, the partner Brasilia has turned to most often is China. By the end of 2022, the RMB became Brazil's second-largest reserve currency behind the dollar, though it still amounted to just 5.4 percent of central bank holdings.⁸⁴ In 2023, the two countries announced the creation of a "clearing house" that would facilitate deals and loans without dollar-denominated transactions.85

NONPROLIFERATION. Brazil supports the nonproliferation order while seeking changes that reflect the imbalance between states with and without nuclear weapons.

As party to the Treaty of Tlatelolco, Brazil has advocated for the denuclearization of the South Atlantic.⁸⁶ It signed the NPT in 1998 and ratified the Comprehensive Nuclear-Test-Ban Treaty (CTBT).⁸⁷ It was the first country to sign the Treaty on the Prohibition of Nuclear Weapons (TPNW) in 2017.⁸⁸ Though negotiations to ratify the treaty in Brazil are still ongoing, Brazil welcomed the TPNW's entry into force in 2021 as "a historic achievement" that reflects an international consensus opposed to the use of nuclear weapons.⁸⁹

Beneath Brazil's adherence to nonproliferation principles are frustrations with the nuclear order. Brasilia perceives that, despite its leadership on nonproliferation, it has not reaped sufficient benefits and receives unfair treatment.⁹⁰ Policymakers point, for instance, to the fact that while India has not joined the NPT, the United States and others nevertheless support its bid for a permanent seat on the UNSC.⁹¹ Brazil is an advanced nuclear nation that enriches uranium, has functioning nuclear plants, and has an active nuclear submarine program. It has not signed the IAEA Additional Protocol, but officials remain adamant that Brazil has no nuclear weapons ambitions.⁹²

Brazil would prefer to work with the United States on its nuclear submarine program, but Washington has for decades declined to share nuclear propulsion technology as a matter of policy. When Washington signed the Australia–United Kingdom–United States (AUKUS) agreement and Australia became an exception to that rule, Brazilian policymakers were caught off guard.⁹³ Brasilia is currently working with France to develop its latest submarine and may be tempted to pursue help from Russia or China on this no-fail national project.⁹⁴

HUMAN RIGHTS. Brazil regularly supports human rights in the international arena but generally refrains from what it views as infringements on other nations' sovereignty.95 Brazil began holding human rights dialogues in 2015 with the United States to discuss multilateral cooperation and issues of bilateral concern, such as political violence and the protection and promotion of religious freedom.96 It has signed multiple inter-American and UN treaties and conventions concerning human rights.⁹⁷ Brazil supported South Africa's controversial move to take Israel to the International Court of Justice for its response to Hamas's terrorist attack on October 7, 2023. While condemning Hamas's act, Lula added that the attacks did not justify Israel's "indiscriminate, recurring, and disproportionate use of force against civilians."98

Ultimately, Brazil is more focused on its own region when it comes to stabilization efforts, and is reluctant to criticize lapses in other countries' human rights practices.⁹⁹ From 2004 to 2013, Brazil undertook its largest peacekeeping mission ever through the United Nations Stabilization Mission in Haiti. Through Operation Acolhida, the Brazilian army has employed its military forces since 2018 to protect and provide humanitarian aid to thousands of Venezuelans along the two countries' shared border.¹⁰⁰

India

India continues to emerge as an increasingly important global player. It does not view itself as a middle power, but as an emerging great power—and seeks to use and transform elements of the current international order to attain that status. India's economic and demographic growth have fueled its global influence, making it an increasingly strong military and economic partner of the United States. It claims the world's largest population—more than 1.4 billion—and is the world's fifth-largest economy, expanding by 6 to 7 percent a year and on track to be third largest by 2027.¹⁰¹

The country's rising wealth has lent it more geopolitical heft. India is a member of the BRICS bloc, the largest emerging economy in the G20 after China, and it plays a key role in trade and climate negotiations. India also participates in the Quad, the implicit effort of Australia, Japan, and the United States to balance China. It has taken on leadership roles in multilateral institutions, including chairing the G20 summit in New Delhi in September 2023, and is engaged in new economic frameworks like the I2U2 Group, a minilateral partnership that includes India, Israel, the United Arab Emirates, and the United States.¹⁰²

India seeks a constructive relationship with Russia, which remains a major military and economic partner for New Delhi. At a 2023 event in Moscow, Indian Foreign Minister Subrahmanyam Jaishankar went so far as to praise the two countries' relationship as "exceptional" and the "one constant in world politics."¹⁰³ More than 50 percent of India's in-service military platforms come from Russia. India also surpasses any other country receiving Russian arms exports, and its purchases include the S-400 missile defense system.¹⁰⁴ Following Russia's invasion of Ukraine, India took advantage of newly discounted Russian oil and sharply increased its imports. By July 2024, India overtook China as the world's largest importer of Russian oil, which made up a record 44 percent of India's overall imports.¹⁰⁵ The leaders of the two countries meet regularly; in summer 2024, Prime Minister Narendra Modi visited Russia for the first time in five years, petting horses and walking alongside Vladimir Putin less than 24 hours after a brutal Russian attack on a children's hospital in Ukraine.¹⁰⁶

Despite this history, India and Russia are experiencing what some experts term a "managed decline" of the bilateral relationship.¹⁰⁷ Though robust military ties persist, the proportion of military hardware that India imports from Russia dropped from 76 percent between 2009 and 2013 to 36 percent between 2019 and 2023.¹⁰⁸ New Delhi has downplayed its participation in Russia-centric forums, such as the Shanghai Cooperation Organization, with Modi neglecting to attend the July 2024 SCO summit.¹⁰⁹ India has not openly provided military support to Russia during the ongoing war in Ukraine, and has remained politically neutral between Moscow and Kyiv.¹¹⁰

India is, however, increasingly aligned with the United States and harbors similar concerns about



Russian President Vladimir Putin and Indian Prime Minister Narendra Modi meet at the Novo-Ogaryovo state residence outside Moscow on July 8, 2024. Modi's visit highlighted New Delhi's sustained relationship with Moscow—even in the wake the West's ostracization of Russia. (Sergei Bobylyov/Pool/AFP via Getty Images)

China's rise and behaviors. This is despite its significant trade partnership with China and a recent thaw in the two countries' persistent border dispute.¹¹¹ Washington recognized India as a major defense partner in 2016, a status at that time unique to New Delhi.¹¹² In June 2023, Biden hosted Modi for a state visit, where the two leaders announced a historic agreement for the United States and India to co-produce jet engines for fighter aircraft.¹¹³ The United States became India's top trading partner in 2022, surpassing China and accounting for 11.5 percent of total Indian trade.¹¹⁴

India is, however, increasingly aligned with the United States and harbors similar concerns about China's rise and behaviors.

The two countries' cooperation also extends to freedom of navigation, infrastructure connectivity, supply chain resilience, and trusted technology.115 In 2020, New Delhi and Washington signed the Basic Exchange and Cooperation Agreement, which allows for sharing sensitive geospatial data to boost the accuracy of India's automated hardware systems.116 In 2023, they announced the Initiative on Critical and Emerging Technologies (iCET)-renamed under the Trump administration to Transforming the Relationship Utilizing Strategic Technology (TRUST)-which aims to expand bilateral technology and defense cooperation.117 Modi traveled to Washington less than a month into Trump's second term. During the visit, the U.S. president announced expanded military sales to India, including F-35 jets, as well as increased oil and gas exports.¹¹⁸ Despite residual tensions around immigration and the trade deficit, warm ties between the two leaders bode well for short-term relations.

TERRITORY. New Delhi has recently been involved in two territorial disputes, one with China and another with Pakistan. Beginning in 2020, the simmering border tensions between China and India erupted into a series of troop clashes. Though officials reached an agreement to reduce tensions and resume patrolling activities in late 2024, mutual mistrust and China's deepening military presence in the Indian Ocean ensure that bilateral tensions will endure.¹¹⁹ China also continues to provide security assistance to Pakistan, engendering anxiety in India about Beijing's aims.¹²⁰ India's conflict with Pakistan over the Kashmir region dates to 1947, when British India was partitioned. The two sides have fought four wars since then, three of them over Kashmir, and experienced multiple military crises that have brought them to the brink of war. The April 2025 terrorist attack in Kashmir that killed 26 Hindus, mainly tourists, again led to a crisis between India and Pakistan as the two countries exchanged military strikes.¹²¹ With disputes on both sides of India's borders, Indian strategists' greatest concern is avoiding a situation in which the country could be forced to fight a two-front war simultaneously against Pakistan and China.

Driven by its desire to retain economic and military benefits from Russia, India has refused to outright condemn Russia's illegal invasion of Ukraine and abstained from key votes at the UNSC on the subject. Its reluctance to punish Russia for the war drew the ire of the United States and its allies, who hoped that the world's largest democracy would take a more principled stand.¹²²

When it comes to China's violations of the maritime order in the South China Sea, however, India's position has largely aligned with that of the United States and its allies. In 2016, for example, following the Permanent Court of Arbitration's ruling against China in the Philippines' favor, India tepidly supported the ruling. India's condemnation of China's actions has since become more vocal and been complemented by joint sails in the South China Sea, increased military exercises, and the provision of military equipment to several Southeast Asian countries, including cruise missiles to the Philippines.123 In its favor, India can point to the contrast with its own arbitration case involving Bangladesh, where India abided by an adverse ruling to resolve both a maritime and land boundary dispute with its neighbor.124 The achievement has led to large infrastructure investment, growing connectivity, and greater trade between the two countries.

TRADE. India has increasingly expressed skepticism about the merits of unfettered trade liberalization, pursuing industrial policy at home and reorienting its trade policy abroad.¹²⁵ India chose not to join the 2020 RCEP, blaming the agreement's failure to incorporate its concerns, including fears of Chinese

Center for a New American Security | June 2025

dumping in India.¹²⁶ India also engages in extensive blocking tactics in the WTO that have further hobbled the flagging institution, much to the frustration of its fellow global south countries. It opposes progress on issues including e-commerce, fisheries, and dispute settlement, while at the same time demanding special concessions on agriculture.¹²⁷

> India has increasingly expressed skepticism about the merits of unfettered trade liberalization, pursuing industrial policy at home and reorienting its trade policy abroad.

Despite the corrosion of the WTO and the global trading system, India is increasingly integrated with global value chains. The India–Middle East–Europe Economic Corridor, announced on the sidelines of the 2023 G20 summit, signals India's interest in global trade opportunities. The project was designed to connect the Middle East with Europe and India through a trade corridor and allow New Delhi to counterbalance China's Belt and Road Initiative in the region—though its implementation is uncertain in the wake of the war in Gaza.¹²⁸

FINANCE. While frustrated by the lack of institutional reform, India remains active within the financial order. It has coordinated with the IMF during regional financial crises and used its G20 presidency to advocate for international cooperation and reforms.¹²⁹ When India offered the largest bilateral loan package in its history to assist Sri Lanka, it consulted with the Paris Club—an informal group of official creditors who address debtor countries' payment difficulties—and adhered to its standards.¹³⁰ With the limitations of the BRICS New Development Bank and the AIIB ever more apparent, India has also begun working more with the United States to rejuvenate the World Bank to ensure that it can address climate, digital, and infrastructure issues.¹³¹

New Delhi remains nominally interested in nondollar trading mechanisms, a rare area of serious conversation involving the BRICS. India views alternatives to the dollar as a way to ensure systemic resilience in the international financial order, including immunizing it from U.S. sanctions.¹³² Dollar supremacy also has strategic implications for India, including limiting its ability to engage Russia and Iran economically. However, after Trump threatened 100 percent tariffs on BRICS countries if they attempted to replace the dollar, the head of India's central bank made clear that his country was not pursuing a policy of de-dollarization.¹³³ India's private sector is also unlikely to risk secondary sanctions, given its exposure to Western markets, but may seek workarounds on issues including Indian investments in a container port terminal at Chabahar in Iran, or financing oil trade with Russia.¹³⁴

NONPROLIFERATION. Though it rhetorically supports global nuclear disarmament, India possesses nuclear weapons of its own and is not party to the NPT or the CTBT. It has criticized the current order as discriminatory against non–nuclear weapons states and was itself a pariah of the nonproliferation order for decades.¹³⁵

That changed after 2008, when India negotiated a civil nuclear agreement with the United States that effectively reintroduced it into the nuclear mainstream. India is a member of three of the four major export control regimes—the Wassenaar Group, the Australia Group, and the Missile Technology Control Regime.¹³⁶ Yet its exclusion from the Nuclear Suppliers Group, largely as a consequence of China's refusal to endorse India's entry, prevents its full integration into the current nonproliferation order.

More worryingly, China's expanding nuclear weapons arsenal could place pressure on India to enhance its own capabilities or to conduct another nuclear test.¹³⁷ China's modernization efforts appear primarily focused on challenging the United States, but India is concerned about the consequences for its own nuclear security. India has traditionally taken an approach guided by a survivable second-strike capability, but China's buildup may open the aperture for debate about India's future nuclear posture. Questions about the survivability of a sea-based deterrent have added to concerns. The possible debate on India's nuclear doctrine and posture would have consequences for the wider nonproliferation order.¹³⁸

HUMAN RIGHTS. India is party to six of the nine core human rights treaties and is a co-founder of the UN Democracy Fund (UNDEF), which financially supports civil society organizations that operate in

countries experiencing political transitions.¹³⁹ As of 2022, it had contributed more than \$32 million to the fund, and New Delhi remains the UNDEF's second-largest donor.¹⁴⁰ It has participated in each Summit for Democracy, at one of which Modi claimed that "India has an ancient and unbroken culture of democracy."¹⁴¹ Despite maintaining a relatively neutral stance on the war in Ukraine, India strongly condemned civilian killings in Bucha in 2022.¹⁴²

India's participation in the human rights order, is, however, overshadowed by the recent sharp decline in its own democratic record. In 2021, Freedom House downgraded India's score from "free" to "partly free," citing increased violence and discriminatory policies targeting the Muslim population.143 Unlawful detentions and restrictions on free speech have increased, and researchers have identified some 250 non-violent political prisoners jailed without formal charges or trials between May 2014, when Modi came to power, and July 2022.144 Modi's government has broadly cracked down on free speech and the media, including banning a 2023 BBC documentary on Modi's role during Gujarat's deadly 2002 communal riots. The 2024 Citizenship Amendment Act has been criticized for favoring non-Muslims fleeing religious persecution.145 Some democracy organizations now categorize India as a "hybrid regime"—neither fully autocratic nor democratic.146

New Delhi's record abroad has grown patchy as well. With an eye on China, India has maintained ties with and sold weapons to the junta that ousted Myanmar's democratic government in 2021 and failed to protect the rights of fleeing Rohingya refugees. It abstained, along with China and Russia, from a UNSC vote demanding an immediate end to the violence in Myanmar in December 2022.¹⁴⁷ In line with its long-held position that country-specific human rights resolutions are ineffective, India also abstained from a vote in 2022 condemning China's atrocities in Xinjiang. India's slide toward extrajudicial violence, including killings in Canada and an assassination plot in the United States, were especially concerning.¹⁴⁸

Indonesia

Located at the nexus of the Indian and Pacific Oceans, and with the largest economy in Southeast Asia, Indonesia is the world's third-largest democracy and an influential global player. It is the sixth-largest emerging market by GDP and has grown faster in the past decade than any other \$1 trillion-plus economy except China and India.¹⁴⁹ It is a founding member of the Association of Southeast Asian Nations and generally considers itself a leader of the organization and the region.

Indonesia was a founding member of the nonaligned movement and has since become more comfortable with the idea of playing an active role mediating between great powers and middle powers. Its strategy today can be better defined as multialigned. For example, in 2023 it joined the G2O's other middle powers to form a bridging initiative with Mexico, South Korea, Türkiye, and Australia (MIKTA). Indonesia has applied for membership in the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD), participates in the Chinadominated RCEP, and officially became a member of the BRICS in January 2025.

These choices-especially the latter cases-are driven primarily by economic pragmatism regarding China. China is both Indonesia's largest trading partner and its second-largest foreign investor.150 Chinese companies and people dominate important Indonesian industries, from nickel mining to tourism.151 The Chinese Tsingshan Holding Group established the largest stainless-steel production base in the world in Indonesia, and Chinese brands lead the smartphone industry.152 Such factors encouraged the two countries to upgrade to a comprehensive strategic partnership in 2013. Following a visit to China in November 2024 by newly inaugurated President Prabowo Subianto, China and Indonesia issued a joint statement that highlighted their partnership and projected greater development cooperation.153

Before taking office in October 2024, Prabowo declared that Indonesia considered "Russia as a great friend," and said that he would work to maintain and enhance the relationship.¹⁵⁴ Yet Russia's primary avenue for engagement with Indonesia is through a transactional military relationship, and the Kremlin has little soft power influence in Indonesia.¹⁵⁵

If China is its primary economic partner, the United States is Indonesia's prime strategic partner.¹⁵⁶ The United States and Indonesia have a long history of cooperation and elevated their relationship to a comprehensive strategic partnership in November 2024.¹⁵⁷ The two countries have a robust trade relationship. The absence of a multilateral U.S. trade agenda in Asia, including the United States' failure to accede to the TPP, has weighed heavily on perceptions of the United States.¹⁵⁸ Policymakers viewed the Biden administration's Indo-Pacific Economic Framework as an insufficient alternative due to its failure to include access to the U.S. market, and overall U.S. investment in Indonesia has wavered in recent years.¹⁵⁹

When it comes to security, however, Indonesia views the United States as an essential partner. The two countries hold more than 220 defense activities each year, and Jakarta relies on Washington for the majority of its training and equipment.¹⁶⁰ In 2021, the

If China is its primary economic partner, the United States is Indonesia's prime strategic partner.

United States began funding the construction of the now-open maritime training center Anambas on the strategic Indonesian island of Batam; as of January 2025, the United States had \$1.88 billion in active government-to-government cases with Indonesia under Foreign Military Sales.¹⁶¹

TERRITORY. Indonesia has traditionally placed a high value on the principles of territorial integrity and sovereignty. Nevertheless, Jakarta failed to stand up firmly in support of Ukraine after Russia's illegal invasion. Though it supported early UN resolutions condemning the invasion, then-President Joko Widodo stated only two weeks after the invasion that both "Ukraine and Russia are friends of Indonesia."¹⁶² Indonesia placed higher value on "rowing between two reefs" and charting a middle path between great powers than on criticizing Russia's actions.

Indonesia adheres more closely to the current order in the maritime domain. After increasing Chinese incursions into the South China Sea, Jakarta mobilized fishermen to join warships to help defend against Chinese vessels in 2020.¹⁶³ In 2023, then–Defense Minister Prabowo met with his U.S. counterpart Lloyd Austin, publicly agreeing that the People's Republic of China's (PRC) expansive maritime claims in the South China Sea do not align with international law.¹⁶⁴ Indonesia's interpretation of UNCLOS looks more like China's and Vietnam's than Washington's in denying the right of passage to military vessels within the country's exclusive economic zone, but it has not interfered with freedom of navigation in practice.¹⁶⁵

TRADE. Jakarta has benefited remarkably from its participation in global trade over the past 20 years. Despite signing a series of bilateral free trade agreements, however, Indonesia's implementation of them is spotty.¹⁶⁶ Jakarta joined RCEP, which entered into force in Indonesia in January 2023.¹⁶⁷ However, Indonesia appears uninterested in other high-quality free trade agreements such as the CPTPP and is weakly committed to high-quality labor and environmental standards.

Indonesia has also come into conflict with the WTO. After Jakarta imposed a ban on the export of raw nickel, the EU challenged the action through the WTO dispute panel, which ordered Indonesia to remove its export restrictions. Jakarta refused to do so, choosing instead to expand the ban to other unprocessed minerals.¹⁶⁸ Rather than supporting the existing trade order, Indonesia's trade policy vacillates between openness and protectionism depending on the issue and Indonesia's political interests.¹⁶⁹

FINANCE. Jakarta has endorsed open capital markets and an open financial system, and it seeks to join multilateral organizations such as the OECD. Finance Minister Sri Mulyani Indrawati said that the "IMF and World Bank are based on the belief that cooperation provides better results for everyone," recognizing that Indonesia has benefited from both institutions over the past 30 years.¹⁷⁰ At the same time, Indonesian delegates at the 78th United Nations General Assembly called for reform of the "outdated and unsuitable" international financial architecture.171 Both perspectives represent Indonesia's take on the current financial order-it is one the country has profited from and, at times, found discriminatory against the voices and interests of developing countries.

Jakarta has proposed what it calls "innovative financing" in which public-private partnerships play a more significant role in development. In February 2025, it received its first sustainability-linked loan from the International Financial Corporation, an element of the World Bank Group and the largest global development institution focused on the private sector in emerging markets.¹⁷² **NONPROLIFERATION.** Indonesia is a model nuclear citizen, having signed the IAEA's Additional Protocol as well as a separate bilateral accord with the United States on nuclear safeguards and security. Former Indonesian Deputy Defense Minister Muhammad Herindra affirmed in 2023 that the United Nations' TPNW will help achieve "comprehensive disarmament" and better maintain peace by eliminating the possibility of nuclear war.¹⁷³ Indonesia has since ratified the treaty, which came into force in December 2024.¹⁷⁴ Indonesia also supports regional nonproliferation efforts through the 1997 Southeast Asian Nuclear Weapons Free Zone Treaty.

Indonesia initially met the announcement of AUKUS with suspicion, driven by the prospect of Australia becoming the first non–nuclear weapons state to develop nuclear-powered submarines. Former Foreign Minister Retno Marsudi affirmed the need for the deal to stay true to the Non-Proliferation Treaty. Then–Defense Minister Prabowo stated in 2021 that he understood and respected AUKUS.¹⁷⁵ By 2023, Jakarta had issued a joint statement with Australia committing to strengthening the global nuclear nonproliferation and disarmament regime.¹⁷⁶

HUMAN RIGHTS. Indonesia's commitment to the human rights order is inconsistent. In 2008, then-President Susilo Bambang Yudhoyono established the Bali Democracy Forum. The forum was intended to foster "democracy, human rights, equality and mutual respect," but has since taken a back seat on the government agenda.177 In 2009, Indonesia led the establishment of the ASEAN Intergovernmental Commission on Human Rights, which promotes regional human rights protection in the region. Jakarta has also invested resources to address the ongoing crisis in Myanmar, both as ASEAN chair in 2023 and otherwise. Indonesian officials emphasized that through ASEAN, Jakarta would encourage the end of the conflict in Myanmar and expressed support for UNSC sanctions in response to the conflict.¹⁷⁸

Though it has attempted to position itself as prodemocracy globally, Indonesia has experienced steady democratic backsliding and a tilt toward authoritarianism domestically. In 2017, Indonesia fell 20 places in the Economist Group's Democracy Index, from 48th to 68th, making it the worst performer among the 165 countries surveyed.¹⁷⁹ It passed a new criminal code in December 2022 that reportedly violated international human rights standards, and it has violently repressed protests in the Papua and West Papua provinces.¹⁸⁰ President Prabowo, elected in 2024, has a personal history of human rights abuses in the 1980s and 1990s.¹⁸¹

Saudi Arabia

Under Crown Prince Mohammed bin Salman (MBS), Riyadh explicitly wishes to be multi-aligned and is trying to recast itself on the international stage as a global influencer. Its economic growth and efforts to diversify its economy following reforms in 2016, along with the implementation of MBS's "Vision 2030," have enabled Saudi Arabia to emerge as a key middle power able to shape a changing global order.

Saudi Arabia is a significant contributor to global oil markets, with around 17 percent of the world's petroleum reserves, and serves as the de facto leader of the Organization of the Petroleum Exporting Countries (OPEC) and OPEC+, which links the group with 10 other oil-producing countries.¹⁸² The Kingdom's GDP reached \$1 trillion for the first time in 2022, and the country is actively diversifying its economy into areas such as infrastructure, tourism, and technology.

On an increasingly competitive global stage, Saudi leadership seeks to diversify its relationships with major powers. Rivadh has sought to strengthen its partnership with China, which has a mutual desire to do so. The two have taken multiple steps, especially since 2016, to align their priorities—including signing a number of economic agreements and establishing the High-Level Joint Committee to develop cooperation strategies based on the Belt and Road Initiative and Vision 2030.183 In 2022, King Salman signed a comprehensive strategic partnership agreement with Xi, alongside a series of deals that deepened relations with China-including one with Huawei Technologies on cloud computing and the construction of high-tech complexes in Saudi cities.¹⁸⁴ In 2023, China hosted the announcement of a Saudi-Iran agreement to restore diplomatic relations following a bitter seven-year dispute.185 The BRICS group agreed in 2024 to invite Saudi Arabia to join the organization, alongside Iran and Egypt.¹⁸⁶ Saudi Arabia is reportedly negotiating arms deals with China as it seeks to diversify its supply in the wake of the Ukraine war.187 Riyadh is also interested in a binding security guarantee from the United States, as part of a package deal to normalize ties with Israel, and has threatened to turn toward China if no such treaty is in the offing.¹⁸⁸

Saudi Arabia's balancing strategy assumed prominence in the wake of Russia's invasion. Though Riyadh voted in favor of the UN General Assembly resolution condemning Russia's invasion of Ukraine, it has since sought a position of neutrality in the war.¹⁸⁹ Despite U.S. entreaties, Saudi Arabia refused to raise oil production to mitigate the energy crisis driven by the conflict. OPEC+ instead cut two million barrels a day in a 2022 agreement that has been extended multiple times.¹⁹⁰ The Biden administration accused the Kingdom of moving to benefit Russian revenues and blunt the effectiveness of sanctions.¹⁹¹

Like multiple other swing states, Saudi Arabia sees itself as well positioned to mediate an end to the war in Ukraine. In September 2022, Saudi Arabia worked with Türkiye to execute a prisoner swap between Russia and Ukraine involving nearly 300 people.¹⁹² In August 2023, it hosted representatives from more than 40 countries at a two-day peace summit.¹⁹³ When the Trump administration made a diplomatic push for a Ukraine peace deal, Saudi Arabia hosted U.S. talks with Russia.¹⁹⁴

Though Saudi Arabia's decades-old alliance with the United States was once seen as ironclad, cracks have appeared over the past decade. Riyadh is still dependent on Washington for its security, purchasing nearly 79 percent of its arms and almost 100 percent of its high-grade advanced weaponry from the United States.¹⁹⁵ Commercial ties between the countries continue to grow in new sectors. Just after

> Like multiple other swing states, Saudi Arabia sees itself as well positioned to mediate an end to the war in Ukraine.

China announced the deal to reinvigorate Saudi-Iran ties, Saudi Arabia signed a major deal with U.S. aircraft manufacturer Boeing and doubled down on efforts to seek bilateral security guarantees from the United States.¹⁹⁶ Thousands of U.S. military personnel remain deployed in the Kingdom, charged with protecting U.S. regional interests against Iran, and a bilateral agreement for internal security force training was renewed in 2023.¹⁹⁷ Saudi confidence in the U.S. security guarantee has, however, been shaken in recent years. During his first term, Trump neglected to retaliate after an attack by Iran crippled Saudi Arabia's most critical oil installation, sowing doubt about the U.S. commitment to Saudi security.¹⁹⁸ President Biden then entered office pledging to render Saudi Arabia an international pariah after its assassination of journalist Jamal Khashoggi.

Nevertheless, President Trump made Saudi Arabia the first stop on his inaugural presidential trips to the Middle East in each of his terms. Trump's May 2025 visit focused on deepening U.S.-Saudi economic ties, and his trade wars and proposed tariffs have not appeared to dampen Saudi enthusiasm for linking its economic growth to the United States. Riyadh maintains sway with Washington, and Trump publicly credited MBS with persuading the president to lift sanctions on Syria after Bashar al-Assad's regime fell.¹⁹⁹

TERRITORY. Riyadh positions itself as a status quo power within the territorial order. For instance, Riyadh voted in favor of the UN General Assembly resolution condemning Russia's unilateral annexation of Ukrainian territories.²⁰⁰ Saudi officials also expressed support for the territorial integrity of Syria following the collapse of the Assad regime.²⁰¹

Though it is not a signatory of the UNCLOS, Saudi Arabia has a track record of upholding the convention's norms, including by ensuring freedom of navigation in the Red Sea and Arabian Gulf.²⁰² Saudi Arabia has also aligned with multilateral coalitions to prevent disruptions to global trade and energy supplies, including in strategic chokepoints such as the Bab el-Mandeb.²⁰³

TRADE. Saudi Arabia's significant role in the global trade order is shaped by its participation in multilateral institutions, integration into global value chains, and strategic economic transformation under Vision 2030. As a WTO member since 2005, the Kingdom has formally committed to the principles of commercial reciprocity, nondiscrimination, and trade liberalization, embedding itself within the institutional architecture that governs global commerce.²⁰⁴

Though Saudi Arabia largely complies with trade regulations, it has a history of exploiting the international oil market for its economic and political advantage. The Kingdom accounted for about 11 percent of the world's oil production in 2023—second only to the United States—and takes advantage of that fact.²⁰⁵ While the Kingdom's official energy policy aims at a "fair" price for both producers and consumers, its actions do not always align with the objective; Riyadh has, for example, manipulated oil prices to prevent U.S. shale from becoming a viable competitor.²⁰⁶ Saudi Arabia recently explored the idea of pricing its oil trade with China in yuan over dollars, which would send shockwaves through world petroleum markets and challenge the current dollar-based trade order.²⁰⁷

At the same time, Saudi Arabia has taken steps through Vision 2030 to implement regulatory reforms in customs procedures, taxation, and investment liberalization, indicating a shift toward greater compliance with the existing trade order.²⁰⁸ The Kingdom has attracted more than 540 multinational companies to establish regional headquarters in Riyadh as part of its economic diversification strategy, embedding itself into global investment and trade networks.209 Saudi Arabia has attempted to create greater integration and trade opportunities with neighboring countries, including by forming free trade zones. Through its membership in the Gulf Cooperation Council, which instituted a customs union in 2003, Riyadh has also managed to expand trade and lower barriers in the region.210

FINANCE. Saudi Arabia is an active participant in multilateral financial institutions, including the IMF, World Bank, and G20. It engages in IMF-led funding programs in the Middle East, works through the World Bank to support development financing and expand its economic diplomacy in the global south, and coordinates energy security and macroeconomic policy through the G20.²¹¹

Despite increasing speculation regarding Saudi Arabia's long-term financial trajectory, particularly regarding de-dollarization and engagement with alternative financial structures such as the BRICS, data indicate that the Kingdom remains structurally embedded in the U.S.-led financial order.²¹² While Saudi Arabia has increasingly expanded trade ties with China and other emerging economies, these relationships have yet to materialize in a significant financial reallocation. U.S. dollar–denominated assets remain dominant in the Saudi Public Investment Fund's (PIF's) foreign currency holdings, rising from \$130.8 billion in 2022 to \$165.2 billion in 2023 and accounting for more than 35 percent of total investment securities.²¹³

In 2022, China marked its first renminbi trade with Saudi Arabia.²¹⁴ Saudi Finance Minister Mohammed al-Jadaan subsequently announced that Saudi Arabia would consider currencies other than the U.S. dollar in oil contracts.²¹⁵ However, despite deepening trade relations with China and other emerging markets, Saudi Arabia's financial structure remains overwhelmingly tied to the U.S. dollar and Western capital markets. Saudi flirtation with de-dollarization is more likely used as a bargaining tool to secure wavering U.S. security guarantees.

NONPROLIFERATION. Saudi Arabia has been a signatory of the Non-Proliferation Treaty since 1962 and works with the IAEA to enhance international nuclear safeguards. In September 2024, Saudi Arabia rescinded the Small Quantities Protocol and committed to implementing a full-scope Comprehensive Safeguards Agreement, enhancing IAEA oversight.²¹⁶

However, Riyadh's commitment to nonproliferation ultimately hinges on regional stability and Iran's nuclear program.²¹⁷ Saudi officials have stated that while the Kingdom remains committed to nonproliferation, a fundamental shift in Iran's nuclear status would require a reassessment of its strategic options. The crown prince said, "Saudi Arabia does not want to acquire" nuclear weapons, but "if Iran developed a nuclear bomb, we will follow suit as soon as possible."²¹⁸ Before negotiations were paused due to Hamas's attack on Israel, MBS was willing to trade a Saudi embassy in Israel for a mutual defense treaty with Washington and a U.S.-provided civilian nuclear program.²¹⁹

The late King Abdullah bin Abdulaziz and former Chinese Premier Wen Jiabao first came to an agreement in 2012 to develop a Saudi nuclear energy program. Saudi Arabia has since constructed a nuclear research reactor near Riyadh capable of uranium and plutonium enrichment with assistance from China.²²⁰ Though it remains a healthy distance from actually developing nuclear weapons of its own, Saudi rhetoric and ambitions confine the country to the outskirts of the nonproliferation order.

HUMAN RIGHTS. Saudi Arabia is an absolute monarchy with very limited political rights and freedoms for its citizens. Despite reform efforts

through Vision 2030, which include some goals to improve women's rights and gender equality, Saudi Arabia's human rights record remains weak both domestically and abroad. Vision 2030 makes no mention of human rights or democratic reform, and a leaked draft of Saudi Arabia's first written penal code criminalizes the rights to freedom of expression, thought, and religion and fails to protect the right to freedom of peaceful assembly.²²¹

Human rights groups have expressed concern about a lack of freedom of expression, arbitrary detentions, unfair trials, and harsh sentences carried out against children or people who were children when they committed crimes.²²² The regime carried out the brutal murder of Jamal Khashoggi in 2018, an act that drew international condemnation.²²³ Saudi border guards also killed hundreds of Ethiopian migrants and asylum seekers attempting to cross the Yemen-Saudi border between March 2022 and June 2023, amounting to what one group said might be crimes against humanity.²²⁴

South Africa

South Africa is a dominant political and security actor on the African continent. It is also, increasingly, a global player—the only African country that is a member of the G20 (along with the African Union itself), an aspiring permanent UNSC member, and an active BRICS member. It has the highest per capita gross domestic product of any large African country.²²⁵

South African leaders chafe under the current international order and explicitly seek a world in which power is more evenly distributed and inclusive of the global south. The African National Congress (ANC), which has led all post-apartheid governments, speaks of liberation for oppressed nations from an unjust, Western-dominated international order, one riven by hypocrisy and double standards. Former Minister of International Relations Naledi Pandor argued that "international law begins to mean nothing" when it is inconsistently implemented, and that South Africa wants to "revise the international multilateral system" to be more representational.²²⁶ To this end, it advocates for reform of the core postwar and Bretton Woods institutions and supports the development of new regional and global organizations. Less than 5 percent of South Africans surveyed in 2024

supported the status quo in the UNSC, and South African President Cyril Ramaphosa himself demanded and required that his country "should have serious participation on the UN Security Council."²²⁷ South Africa also advocated for enlarging the BRICS at the group's summit in 2023.²²⁸

South Africa has increasingly asserted its voice on the international stage in quite controversial ways. In October 2024, South Africa took Israel to the International Court of Justice on claims of genocide in Gaza—a choice that earned severe backlash from the United States and other countries. Pretoria has offered to mediate the Russia-Ukraine conflict and led an African peace delegation to Russia and Ukraine in 2023.²²⁹ Putin accepted and encouraged Ramaphosa's "dual mediation role."²³⁰ South Africa is hosting the G20 in 2025, an opportunity to showcase its foreign-policy goals—though the U.S. boycott of South Africa-hosted G20 events has put a damper on its ability to do so.²³¹

The ANC, which has long formed the core of the South African political establishment, sees itself as



South African President Cyril Ramaphosa addressed the media after talks during a visit to Kyiv on June 16, 2023. He visited as part of a delegation offering to broker peace between Kyiv and Moscow. (Sergei Supinsky/AFP via Getty Images)

firmly nonaligned and has long been dedicated to this position—in theory.232 In a 2024 Washington Post op-ed, Ramaphosa reaffirmed the policy, writing: "Since 1994, democratic South Africa has deliberately avoided aligning itself with any of the major powers or blocs."233 In practice, however, the country's political elite remains dominated by the generation that fought against apartheid, and its political sympathies align with its historical friends during the struggle. China and the Soviet Union supported the anti-apartheid movement when Western countries failed to condemn or even supported the apartheid regime.²³⁴ This is changing, slowly-the Western-leaning Democratic Alliance formed the country's first coalition government with the ANC after winning an unprecedented number of votes in May 2024.235 South Africa's recent history, however, continues to weigh heavily in its current foreign policy and to shape its posture toward global powers.

South African leaders chafe under the current international order and explicitly seek a world in which power is more evenly distributed and inclusive of the global south.

This is especially true of Russia. Much of the establishment in South Africa retains an affinity for the Soviet Union, which supplied arms to the ANC's liberation movement and spoke out against the apartheid regime.²³⁶ In 2013, South Africa signed a comprehensive strategic partnership deal with Russia that lays out a framework for cooperation between the two nations.²³⁷ The agreement stipulates that neither country will challenge or condemn the other, a principle that has shaped South African–Russian relations for the past decade.²³⁸

Its loyalty has led South Africa to take actions that not only imperil its relations with the United States but also erode tenets of the rules-based order. Despite initially criticizing Russia's unlawful invasion of Ukraine, South Africa has since become reticent to comment on the conflict. South Africa was among 32 countries to abstain from a February 2023 resolution on Ukraine.²³⁹ That same month, near the first anniversary of the Russian invasion, South Africa participated in a 10-day naval exercise in the Indian Ocean along with the Russian and Chinese navies. A U.S. embassy spokesperson criticized South Africa's participation in the exercise "even as Moscow" continued "its brutal and unlawful war of aggression against Ukraine."²⁴⁰ The U.S. ambassador to South Africa, Reuben Brigety, subsequently accused the country's government of providing weapons and ammunition to Russia by allowing a sanctioned Russian ship—the Lady R—to dock near Cape Town.²⁴¹ The incident erupted in diplomatic scandal and, if accurate, would affirm South Africa's support for a country actively engaging in territorial aggression.

South Africa's relationship with China is primarily economic, although the two countries have also grown closer politically in recent years-notably through the BRICS forum. In China, Pretoria sees a country that is a far more relevant model of development than the example provided by Western nations.²⁴² After taking office in 2013, Xi's first international trip was to South Africa. After three more visits across the next five years, South Africa became the first African country to sign a memorandum of cooperation with China on the Belt and Road Initiative.²⁴³ As of March 2025, China is South Africa's largest trading partner, representing just under 11 percent of exports and 19 percent of imports.²⁴⁴ Ramaphosa has criticized American efforts to constrain the Chinese technology conglomerate Huawei, and in July 2023 opened a new Huawei Innovation Center in Johannesburg, stating that the center would help South Africa "leapfrog into the Fourth Industrial Revolution."245 South African policymakers tend to view China not only as an economic opportunity, but also as an important counterbalance against a domineering, U.S.-led world order.246

These developments have strained what has been, since democratic elections in 1994, a strong political and economic relationship between the United States and South Africa. Under the Biden administration, tensions came to a head after the Lady R incident when a bipartisan group of lawmakers suggested that the United States should reassess whether South Africa was eligible to retain trade benefits under the African Growth and Opportunity Act (AGOA).²⁴⁷ Lawmakers accused South Africa of using its "stance of nonalignment in international affairs to justify increasingly close relations with the PRC and Russia," and called for the U.S. government to review the status of the United States–South Africa bilateral relationship.²⁴⁸ South Africa responded by inundating Washington with diplomatic delegations, attempting to smooth over the spat by drawing attention to the importance of the bilateral economic relationship.²⁴⁹ But the perception that Pretoria favors Russia and China's vison for the world stands—and diplomatic relations have plummeted to new lows under the Trump administration.

Trump early in his term suspended all U.S. development aid to South Africa, accusing the government of subjecting white Afrikaners to "race-based discrimination" and offering asylum to white South Africans.²⁵⁰ The newly installed secretary of state, Marco Rubio, snubbed the G20 foreign ministers meeting in South Africa in February 2025 and declared that he would not attend the G20 summit in Cape Town in September 2025.²⁵¹ After South African Ambassador to the United States Ebrahim Rasool accused Trump of leading a white supremacist movement, he was declared *persona non grata* and expelled from the United States in late March 2025.²⁵² The current trajectory for relations is poor and will need a 180 degree reset to become productive again.

TERRITORY. South Africa has traditionally supported a policy of nonintervention and is a signatory of UNCLOS, having ratified it on December 23, 1997.²⁵³ However, in the wake of Russia's invasion of Ukraine, South Africa failed to condemn Russia's violation and abstained from all General Assembly votes to condemn Russia's invasion. It has resisted pressure from Washington for Pretoria to condemn or even curtail its ties with Moscow. In response to U.S. criticism of this reticence, South African experts and officials frequently turn the conversation around and accuse the United States of hypocrisy in its approach to Israel and the Palestinians. Former Foreign Minister Pandor claimed that U.S. officials do not "believe in international law, truly" but rather "use the framework of international law unequally depending on who is affected."254

TRADE. South Africa supports free trade and is party to multiple international and regional trade agreements and institutions. It joined the GATT in June 1948 and has been a WTO member since January 1995. The AGOA provides South Africa with duty-free access to more than 1,800 products in the U.S.

market.²⁵⁵ Pretoria joined the African Continental Free Trade Area in January 2024 and began trading under its terms soon thereafter.²⁵⁶

South African leaders regularly complain about the deleterious effects of trade barriers, non-tariff barriers, and trade-distorting practices used by great powers including the United States and China.²⁵⁷ To remedy this imbalance, reforming the WTO and developing a more equitable trade system are two of South Africa's priorities. Speaking at the 14th BRICS Trade Ministers Meeting in Moscow in July 2024, Deputy Minister Zuko Godlimpi stated, "South Africa supports the strengthening of the multilateral trading system and the WTO reforms that promote development."²⁵⁸

FINANCE. As a leader in the global south, South Africa has made clear its efforts to reform the international financial system, including the IMF. It believes that global finance should be diversified and made more accessible to emerging and middle economies.

In its pursuit of alternative sources of international financing and investment, South Africa has prioritized the expansion and elevation of the BRICS as a counterweight to a Western-dominated financial order. By advocating for BRICS expansion—four countries joined the group at the 2024 summit in South Africa— Pretoria aims to create a substantial financial bloc that addresses global south concerns. The edges of this reality are beginning to take shape. In August 2024, the South African state logistics group Transnet agreed to a five-billion-rand (\$283.53 million) loan from the BRICS New Development Bank.²⁵⁹ As one of the primary funders of the New Development Bank, China will realize increased influence if it is used as an alternative to the World Bank.

NONPROLIFERATION. South Africa is the only nation to date that possessed and then voluntarily gave up its nuclear weapons, which it did in 1991. It is a vocal proponent of nonproliferation and signatory of all major nonproliferation and test ban treaties, including the Treaty on the Prohibition of Nuclear Weapons, which it signed on September 20, 2017.²⁶⁰ Since it came to power, the governing ANC party has adhered to a position supporting nuclear disarmament, nuclear nonproliferation, and the peaceful use of nuclear energy.²⁶¹ South Africa has tied its nonproliferation policy to its stance of nonalignment, rejecting all great powers' nuclear proliferation equally.

HUMAN RIGHTS. South Africa is rightfully proud of peacefully overcoming the country's apartheid legacy. Former Foreign Minister Pandor told an audience at Georgetown University in 2023 that her country believed "human rights should be available to everybody equally and not to some," arguing that South Africa was committed to freedom, human rights, and democracy . . . all over."²⁶² Since 1994, the country has been commonly regarded as a proponent of human rights and a leader on the African continent, acting as a peacekeeper in multiple conflicts.²⁶³

However, South Africa's recent record supporting the global human rights order is patchy. Former President Jacob Zuma attempted to withdraw his country from the Rome statute and the International Criminal Court (ICC) in 2016, before the South African High Court ruled the move unconstitutional (Zuma did not get parliamentary approval).²⁶⁴ When former Sudanese President Omar Hassan al-Bashir visited South Africa the following year, South Africa failed to arrest him even though he was subject to an ICC arrest warrant.²⁶⁵

There is also a stark cognitive dissonance in South African society between support for Russia and China on the one hand, and on the other dedication to values and principles of freedom, democracy, and individual rights.²⁶⁶ It appears that South Africa's ties to China, for example, have influenced its posture toward democracy and human rights. Despite bringing its International Court of Justice case accusing Israel of genocide in Gaza—an attempt to show that human rights are a priority—it has not spoken out against China's treatment of its Uyghur population. Similarly, in July 2024, South Africa sat out a UN Human Rights Council vote to support aid for human rights initiatives in Ukraine.²⁶⁷

Türkiye

Since taking power—first as prime minister in 2003, then as president in 2014—Recep Tayyip Erdoğan has helped shape a new role for Türkiye in the world and established his country as an ambitious regional and even global power. After decades of close alignment with Europe and the United States during and after the Cold War, Türkiye has embraced a multialigned position firmly at the crossroads of the Middle East, the West, and Eurasia. Ankara has developed a "360-degree foreign policy," premised on the notion that Türkiye's Western alliances do not restrain its actions in other strategic regions.²⁶⁸

Its institutional memberships range from the G20 and NATO to the Organization of the Islamic Conference. Ankara has proved a difficult NATO ally in some respects, delaying Finland's accession to the alliance and blocking Sweden's, accusing Stockholm of harboring Kurdish separatists. Türkiye's purchase of Russian S-400 air defense systems led Washington to cancel its sale of F-35 fighter aircraft to Ankara. And in recent years, Türkiye has boosted its economic ties with Russia and turned to the Kremlin for military and diplomatic support.

In 2010, Ankara and Moscow entered talks to build the \$20 billion Akkuyu nuclear power plant in southern Türkiye, which is expected to begin generating electricity in 2025.269 2020 saw the completion of the \$13 billion TurkStream natural gas pipeline from Russia that runs through the Black Sea to Türkiye. After Russia's 2022 invasion of Ukraine, President Erdoğan argued that Ankara could not join Western sanctions against Moscow because his country depended on Russian oil and natural gas imports-and instead it increased its imports of Russian energy.²⁷⁰ In 2022, Russia's trade increased by 87 percent with Türkiye.271 In November 2024, well into the war, Erdoğan expressed a desire to "increase the cooperation between Türkiye and Russia," notably by "expanding the volume of trade."272

Presidents Erdoğan and Putin have also formed a personal relationship that has positively influenced their countries' relations. The leaders' close ties emerged within the context of the failed Turkish coup attempt in 2016, after which Erdoğan's crackdown on dissent left Ankara at odds with its Western allies. Erdoğan met with Putin on his first trip abroad after the attempt, and they forged a constructive partnership.²⁷³

By seeking to join the BRICS in late 2024, Ankara reaffirmed its commitment to balancing between the West and a rising group of countries opposed to the current world order, including Russia and China. Türkiye's relationship with China is otherwise lukewarm, despite Ankara's outreach to Beijing. Türkiye's ties to and sympathy for China's Uyghur community—Türkiye is home to the world's largest Uyghur diaspora—have thus far proved a roadblock to deeper relations.²⁷⁴

Global Swing States and the New Great Power Competition



Russian President Vladimir Putin, left, and Turkish President Recep Tayyip Erdoğan, right, talk onstage at the opening ceremony of the TurkStream natural gas pipeline project on January 8, 2020, in Istanbul. (Burak Kara/Getty Images)

Despite signing on to the BRI in 2015, Türkiye ranks 23rd of 80 countries receiving Chinese investment.²⁷⁵ Beijing refused to assist Ankara during the first rumblings of Türkiye's economic troubles in 2018 and instead choose Greece as a key BRI partner in the East Mediterranean.²⁷⁶ Beijing and Ankara increasingly compete for influence in Africa and Central Asia, where both see economic and geopolitical opportunity.²⁷⁷ Each of these centrifugal forces creates space between Türkiye and China that will be difficult for them to bridge.

The United States is one of Türkiye's oldest allies, but the relationship has become strained in recent years. During Syria's civil war, Washington partnered with the Syrian Democratic Forces (SDF) to fight the Islamic State threat. Ankara considers this Syrian offshoot of the Kurdistan Workers Party a terrorist group and views its presence in Syria as an existential threat.²⁷⁸ Differences over the Kurdish presence in Syria dogs the bilateral relationship to this day, though the fall of Assad's regime in Damascus may provide new opportunities for resolution. Washington has episodically expressed concern about Türkiye's domestic politics as well; the government's repression of speech and jailing of key opposition political figures suggests a turn away from democratic rule.

Some of these spats have been papered over if not resolved. The Turkish government's ratification of Sweden's membership of NATO in early 2024 led the Biden administration to approve the sale of F-16 fighter jets to Türkiye—taking heat out of the NATO membership and S-400 disputes.²⁷⁹ The potential reintegration of the SDF into a Syrian national army, along with the possible withdrawal of U.S. troops from northeast Syria, have provided the space for diplomatic consultations. Even there, however,

The United States is one of Türkiye's oldest allies, but the relationship has become strained in recent years.

the issues remain tricky; the two NATO allies have been pitted against each other by proxy for years. During the most recent spat in December 2024, the Turkish military fired on U.S.-backed Kurdish forces in northern Syria.²⁸⁰

TERRITORY. Türkiye has been involved in ongoing disputes in exclusive economic zones off the Mediterranean coast. Ankara is widely thought to have intervened in Libya's civil war in 2020 in part to secure its preferred maritime boundaries in the Eastern Mediterranean, and as part of its Blue Homeland Doctrine—shorthand for Ankara's maritime claims in the region.²⁸¹ Before its intervention, Türkiye signed a maritime boundary treaty with Libya to establish an exclusive economic zone in the

Mediterranean Sea; this received significant pushback.²⁸² Türkiye's claims to large deposits of natural gas off the coast of Cyprus remain highly disputed. Both Greece and Cyprus argue that Ankara disregards Greek and Cypriot sovereignty.²⁸³

Despite maintaining ties with Russia, Türkiye has simultaneously helped Ukraine defend its territory by selling Kyiv essential defensive and attack hardware, such as Bayraktar drones. Erdoğan has publicly affirmed support for Ukraine's territorial integrity, and Ankara has acted as the primary guarantor of maritime security in the Black Sea, enforcing the Montreux Convention and limiting Russian naval transit through the Dardanelles and Bosphorus straits. It also played a key role in hosting peace talks early in the war and brokering a Black Sea grain deal. Türkiye has supported all resolutions at the UN General Assembly related to Ukraine, including to suspend Russia's membership in the UN Human Rights Council. Ankara supported making Russia liable for war reparations, becoming one of the only swing states to do so.284

TRADE. As a founding member of the WTO and signatory of the GATT, Türkiye generally adheres to established trade rules. It has had a customs union with the European Union since 1995 that enabled bilateral trade to reach a record high in 2023 of nearly €206 billion.²⁸⁵ Membership in the European Customs Union has encouraged Türkiye to follow the principles of commercial reciprocity and nondiscrimination.²⁸⁶

FINANCE. Türkiye is an active participant in the global financial order as a member of the IMF, the G20, and the OECD. Facilitated by high economic growth rates between 2006 and 2017, it is an increasingly important donor of official development assistance.²⁸⁷ Separately, Türkiye's investments in Africa have blossomed since 2007, including infrastructure projects worth billions of dollars. That growth has put Türkiye in competition with China for influence through investment in Africa. Though it cannot match China's economic heft, Türkiye has at times outcompeted Beijing for construction contracts.²⁸⁸

Türkiye has, however, faced grievous economic troubles since 2018, including high inflation. In hopes of recovery, Erdoğan is counting on large investment flows from the Gulf, Russia, and the West to jumpstart the economy. That aim reaffirms Ankara's desire to work with all sides, and to avoid foreclosing economic relationships with countries that themseleves have serious geopolitical differences.²⁸⁹ Institutional deregulation in Türkiye has also sparked concerns, including President Erdoğan's decision to appoint himself as the head of the country's sovereign wealth fund, and to make his son-in-law his deputy on the fund's board.²⁹⁰

NONPROLIFERATION. Türkiye has generally supported the nonproliferation order, refraining from pursuing nuclear weapons and embracing the legal nonproliferation regime.²⁹¹ However, Ankara opposes international efforts aimed at limiting access to civilian nuclear technology that could facilitate a country's military ambitions.²⁹² The country's first nuclear power plant, in Akkuyu, includes Turkish nuclear engineers and technicians receiving training in Russia. Erdoğan himself said in 2019 that he "cannot accept" that the West denies Türkiye access to missiles with nuclear warheads.293 In light of the historic Turkish-Iranian rivalry, it is conceivable that Türkiye might seek its own nuclear arsenal should Iran aquire nuclear weapons, especially if it doubts Washington's continued provision of a nuclear umbrella.294

HUMAN RIGHTS. Human rights in Türkiye and Ankara's willingness to promote human rights abroad have both overall deteriorated over the past decade. Despite condemning China in 2009 for genocide against its Uyghur population, Erdoğan has since walked back his statement and in 2019 claimed that "people of all ethnicities in Xinjiang are leading a happy life amid China's development and prosperity."295 Though Türkiye still hosts more than three million Syrian refugees, surging hostility toward Syrians in Türkiye led authorities to arbitrarily arrest, detain, and deport hundreds of refugees between February and July 2022 in violation of international law.296 In the Turkish-occupied pocket of northern Syria, Kurdish residents-perceived by Ankara as a terrorist threat-bore the brunt of abuses and potential war crimes committed by Turkish forces and local Türkiye-backed armed groups.297

Domestically, Turkish citizens have seen a serious crackdown on their own rights following the 2016 coup attempt. The government implemented broad antiterror legislation in 2018 that has been used to restrict basic rights and freedoms. Arbitrary killings, torture, and forced disappearances have all become more common.²⁹⁸ In 2021, Türkiye also withdrew from the Council of Europe Convention on Preventing and Combating Violence against Women and Domestic Violence, known as the Istanbul Convention.²⁹⁹ The decision to do so further diminished Türkiye's reputation as a supporter of international human rights. In a significant step back for the country's democracy, Erdoğan jailed his main political rival, Ekrem İmamoğlu, in March 2025.³⁰⁰

STRATEGIES OF ENGAGEMENT

THE UNITED STATES itself is today reevaluating the international order and searching for a proper place within it. The Trump administration has floated wildly varying approaches, including a spheres-of-influence world in which the United States would focus mostly on dominating (and even acquiring territory in) the Western Hemisphere, while acknowledging Russian-and perhaps Chinese-interests in their own regions. Other times it has insisted that resisting Chinese domination of the Indo-Pacific is its top national security priority, and that it remains committed to European alliances. The administration has used military force against the Houthis in Yemen, citing the need to preserve freedom of navigation, and insisted on a dollar-dominated international financial order, even as it proved ready to upend trading arrangements. While the Biden administration generally expressed support for the international order and sought to punish transgressions against it, its successor pursues a far more conflicted view. In 2025, the notion of America as a global swing state does have merit.

With the right support, the key pillars of international order might endure, in varying degrees of solidity. If they do, they will—or at least can continue to serve American interests. For all the talk about cutting a major deal with China and resetting postwar relations with Russia, the chances of success in either are vanishingly small. The United States is likely to remain in significant, long-term competition with Moscow and Beijing, a contest that will turn partially on each country's conflicting approaches to the way in which the world is ordered. Once this reality sets in for American policymakers, it should become
clear that global swing states will play a disproportionate role in the ultimate outcome of that order.

Washington should pursue policies toward the six global swing states that: (1) encourage and assist them in bolstering key pillars of global order; (2) deny adversary countries such as Russia and China advantages in areas including military basing, security ties, technology infrastructure, and diplomatic coordination; (3) devote attention to and support for their own needs, on their own terms, in exchange for policies and programs that will further U.S. interests. This section enumerates several overarching policy recommendations, followed by country-specific ones.

Change the diplomatic tone and tenor. A universal complaint among swing state governments is that Washington tends to see countries only through the prism of their relationships with China and Russia. As this report makes clear, U.S. interests in the global swing states stem, in part, precisely from their roles in great power competition. However, that is not Washington's only interest in relations with each swing state, and U.S. diplomats would do well to meet governments on their own terms. None wishes to feel like a pawn in a superpower game, merely threatened or bribed to join one side or the othereven as some play larger countries off against one another to maximize their own maneuver space. The United States should be sensitive to such sentiments, pursuing enduring ties with each country that extend beyond their current positions on China and Russia.

Offer increased market access. The United States boasts by far the world's largest market, with high rates of consumption and goods imports. Access to that market is desired by virtually every country, and, in contrast with other tools of U.S. foreign policy, allowing it costs nothing. The United States should pursue deals that offer access to the U.S. market in exchange for reciprocal trade benefits; export controls on third countries, potentially coupled and harmonized; policies on digital infrastructure; and other economic security measures.³⁰¹ While Washington is currently moving backward, constricting access to its economy via tariffs and other barriers, these steps could form the first steps toward new, mutually beneficial economic agreements with each of the six states.

Increase hard power. A sustainable international order rests on two pillars: a sense of legitimacy among key countries and an overall balance of power.

As this report makes clear, U.S. interests in the global swing states stem, in part, precisely from their roles in great power competition.

The first, as previously discussed, has come under increasing challenge in recent years, and if the United States does not sufficiently invest in hard power, the balance needed to preserve international order could crumble. Washington's defense spending has approached levels reminiscent of the late 1990s the height of the post–Cold War peace dividend—at just over 3 percent of its gross domestic product.³⁰² Ratcheting up defense spending, as the Trump administration pledges to do, is necessary to manage China and Russia alongside other threats, and to demonstrate staying power to global swing states who might otherwise hedge against U.S. decline by tilting toward American adversaries.

Rebuild soft power. China and Russia pursue influence in each of the global swing states through a variety of soft power activities. Depending on the destination country, Beijing and Moscow provide development and humanitarian aid, build infrastructure, give security assistance, make soft loans, and engage in strategic communications activities. Until recently, the United States did similarly, with many observers calling on Washington to increase the resources devoted to soft power tools and to enhance their effectiveness.³⁰³ In recent months, the United States has instead taken a drastic turn in the other direction by eliminating the United States Agency for International Development, ending 85 percent of its foreign aid programs, ceasing its international broadcasting, dismantling its democracy promotion efforts, and stopping its efforts to promote the free flow of online information. While debates about the effectiveness of any particular program are necessary and appropriate, a wholesale evisceration of America's soft power tools will handicap the United States in its contest for influence.

Engage alongside allies. The sprawling U.S. alliance system, while sometimes today seen as a burden on the American people, nevertheless remains the key enabler of global security. Washington should engage global swing states bilaterally but also at times

with allies and partners. For example, the United States has pursued productive relations with India through the Quad, Türkiye within NATO, and Saudi Arabia in the context of potential normalization with Israel. In engaging with global swing states, Washington is not acting alone, and need not do so. The U.S. Department of State should establish an annual dialogue on engagement with pivotal nations involving the European External Action Service, the foreign ministries of interested European powers, and Japan.

Acknowledge that the United Nations Security Council needs reform and openly express support for its eventual expansion. The United States should continue to state the obvious—that the council's current structure no longer aligns with today's global power dynamics. U.S. policymakers should also accept the challenges that come along with achieving meaningful reform and prioritize working closely with influential swing states during their temporary terms on the Council.³⁰⁴

Recommendations for Bilateral Collaboration

Building stronger working relationships with the swing states is a two-way street. All stand to benefit if the United States pursues the specific recommendations outlined here, which are informed by dozens of conversations with experts and officials. By prioritizing initiatives that advantage both the United States and the swing states, Washington will more successfully compete with axis countries to garner the support of and collaboration with those countries pivotal to the future of the international order.

Establish minilateral groupings that include the global swing states. Minilateral frameworks have proliferated in recent years and now include groups as varied as the Quad, AUKUS, I2U2, MIKTA, and the BRICS. With universal bodies including the United Nations largely paralyzed by differences among the veto-wielding powers, minilateral groups—especially those devoted to a single set of issues—offer innovative ways of harmonizing approaches and multiplying efforts among would-be partners. Washington should explore areas in which minilaterals are potentially useful—technology, critical minerals, defense industrial base cooperation, infrastructure, and maritime domain awareness—and look for opportunities to include global swing states.

Define and address unfair commercial practices by state-owned enterprises.³⁰⁵ Several of the swing states are, as is the United States, seeking to build or revitalize their manufacturing and industrial sectors. The market distortions of Beijing's state-owned enterprises (SOEs) stifle such efforts. The WTO lacks clear rules regulating the commercial practices of SOEs and has proven incapable of dealing with these distortions. The United States should explore rules that govern SOE behavior and work in combination with key swing states to address Chinese overcapacity. As new U.S. tariffs on China encourage the PRC to dump low-cost goods on markets, including in the global swing states, opportunities may arise to harmonize approaches to Chinese SOEs.

Develop critical minerals partnerships. The United States has awoken to its dependence on China and other chokepoint countries for supplies of critical minerals such as copper, lithium, nickel, cobalt, and rare earth elements. Access to these minerals is necessary for the United States to sustain economic growth and technological innovation. As a result, Washington should prioritize sectoral trade deals in critical minerals with the global swing states: Brazil (notably rare earths), India (copper and cobalt), Indonesia (nickel and copper), Saudi Arabia (gold, phosphate rock, and bauxite), South Africa (manganese), and Türkiye (boron).³⁰⁶ The swing states have also expressed interest in capitalizing on their natural resources by working with the United States to process and market their minerals.307 Washington should encourage Brazil, Indonesia, and South Africa to join the Minerals Security Partnership, a U.S.-led effort to secure and diversify global supply chains for critical minerals (India and Türkiye are already members).308

Empower the U.S. Congress. The House and Senate are relatively untapped resources in engaging with global swing states. Washington should seek opportunities to link parliamentarians, encourage congressional delegations to the six swing countries, support fellowships that embed professionals from each of them in U.S. congressional offices, and encourage other visits and exchanges. Sub-national contact would be useful as well, including visits and exchanges with governors and mayors of key cities.

Launch a program to immerse American officials in the politics and economics of each global swing state.³⁰⁹ U.S. government expertise on the six swing states remains limited, an omission that will make working closely with them challenging. The Mansfield Fellowship, which provides U.S. federal employees with a year of Japanese language training followed by an assignment with the Japanese government, provides a useful model for elements of such a program. Although some of the six global swing states—and the United States itself—may not be receptive to such a program today, similar initiatives should remain a long-term objective.

Catalyze academic partnerships. Washington should encourage top-tier U.S. research universities to establish partnerships with leading academic institutions in global swing states. Georgetown University's recently opened campus in Jakarta, for example, might serve as a model for such initiatives.

The following country-specific policy recommendations are hardly exhaustive, but they illustrate the kinds of opportunities now present in Washington's relations with the global swing states.

Brazil

Increase diplomatic engagement at the highest levels. The United States should demonstrate Brazil's importance as a partner in the region and beyond by increasing the frequency of diplomatic engagement at the presidential and cabinet levels. Officials and experts have expressed frustration with the United States' lack of attention to Brazil and the region; here, a little more will go a long way.

Fully implement and expand upon the Agreement on Trade and Economic Cooperation's Protocol on Trade Rules and Transparency. The protocol was developed under the first Trump administration and should be broadened to include a chapter on digital trade; appendices addressing critical areas such as medical devices, pharmaceuticals, and supply chain resiliency; and the critical minerals addressed above.³¹⁰

Invest in Brazil's semiconductor capacity. Brazil hopes to develop the country's semiconductor testing, assembling, and packaging capacity. It is also trying to become more competitive in semiconductor design—as evidenced by a 2024 law that aims to incentivize domestic semiconductor production.³¹¹ Previous legislation favored importing Chinese semiconductors, while the new law will facilitate Brazilian exports of domestically produced semiconductors. As the United States seeks to diversify its supply of key technologies and offset Chinese influence in pivotal states, it should look to Brazil as a partner for investment in its semiconductor capacity.

Encourage investment in Brazilian infrastructure projects and encourage Brasilia to facilitate U.S. bids and investments. In 2023, Brazil amended its constitution to achieve better tax reliability and navigability. While still complex, these changes to the tax system will be implemented over the next 10 years, potentially leading to a less complicated tax system and more predictability. The United States should encourage that outcome and look for ways to stimulate investment, including through financing terms that become more favorable as the tax environment improves and if corruption declines.

Reduce existing barriers to transfers of military technology to Brazil, increase the frequency of joint naval exercises, and explore a regional maritime initiative.³¹² Brazil's robust defense industrial base, especially in aerospace, offers opportunities for licensed production of U.S. equipment locallyincluding Blackhawks or F-16s.313 Brazil already trains and equips some West African fleets and could play a much larger role in combating the growing threat of piracy in the Gulf of Guinea as its naval capabilities expand. Washington should help accelerate Brazil's maritime emergence by providing training and equipment, as well as by investing in its shipyards. Maritime initiatives should focus on domain awareness and patrol of Brazil's vast EEZ. The United States and Brazil should sign a reciprocal defense procurement agreement to promote interoperability and smooth the conditions for defense procurement. Over the longer run, the defense establishments of both countries should evaluate the feasibility of a Brazilian-led, U.S.-backed South Atlantic initiative that would bring together regional navies and coast guards to address drug trafficking; illegal, unreported, and unregulated fishing; human smuggling; piracy; and other forms of maritime-based transnational crime.

Seek opportunities for investment in the energy sector. Brazil requires additional refining capacity for its oil and gas production, and domestic gas fracking could produce fertilizer, which would reduce Brazil's dependence on Russian supplies. The United States and Brazil should explore collaborations in those areas, as well as opportunities to cooperate on uranium mining, rare earths, and lithium for renewable energy projects.³¹⁴ Over the longer run, the two governments could pursue a joint effort to secure a global pact on green energy, building off the newly established Brazil-U.S. Partnership for the Energy Transition.³¹⁵

India

Boost U.S.-India defense industrial cooperation. The defense sector is rapidly growing in India and is a key driver of indigenous defense production.³¹⁶ The United States should explore ways to reduce remaining barriers to bilateral defense trade, increase joint development and production, and increase overall cooperation. Doing so would strengthen bilateral defense ties and help offset India's continued reliance on Russian military equipment.

Expand maritime planning and joint naval exercises.³¹⁷ The U.S. Navy should expand its joint exercises and training programs with the Indian Navy. Washington should also support New Delhi's ambitions to lead maritime affairs in the Indian Ocean. Officials from the U.S. State Department and India's Ministry of External Affairs could together consider how to strengthen coordination between existing Indian Ocean bodies—such as the Indian Ocean Naval Symposium and the Indian Ocean Association for Regional Cooperation.

Pursue sectoral trade agreements. Despite Washington's overtly protectionist inclinations and New

Delhi's own trade barriers, U.S.-India agreements would boost bilateral trade and establish rules in key domains. The two countries should explore trade agreements in sectors including critical minerals, clean energy, and digital trade, thereby avoiding more politically sensitive areas such as agriculture, which would make adoption difficult.

Embolden and invest in the Quad. In a positive move, U.S. Secretary of State Marco Rubio met with foreign ministers of the fellow Quad nations India, Japan, and Australia on his first full day on the job.³¹⁸ U.S. policymakers should continue to prioritize and invest in the Quad to counter Chinese influence in the Indo-Pacific, focusing on maritime security— especially reinvigorating the Quad Indo-Pacific Partnership for Maritime Domain Awareness—alongside humanitarian assistance and cooperation on emerging technologies.

More deeply align technology standards. The Trump administration's Transforming the Relationship Utilizing Strategic Technology initiative, announced during Modi's February 2025 White House visit, provides a senior-level platform for deepening bilateral technology cooperation.³¹⁹ The TRUST initiative builds on the Biden administration's iCET, launched in January 2023 by then–U.S. national security advisor Jake Sullivan and his Indian counterpart, Ajit Doval. TRUST should increasingly focus on expert-level workstreams, including efforts to align technological standards between the two countries.

Indonesia

Diversify undersea cables. The contest over the South China Sea risks disrupting the international cable system on which Asia relies for internet connectivity.³²⁰ The United States has begun working with Indonesia on this vulnerability and should continue to do so, including through the provision of development financing.³²¹

Encourage semiconductor packaging. Indonesian officials hope their country can emerge as a competitive player in the global semiconductor industry.³²² As the United States looks to diversify its supply chains in key technologies, including microelectronics, it

should seek to facilitate Indonesia's capacity to test and package semiconductors. Regulatory risks still pose a challenge for investors in Indonesia's industry, but among the steps the country has taken to raise foreign investment and make it easier, in 2020 it passed an omnibus law on job creation.³²³

Boost U.S.-Indonesia trade and investment ties. The 2020 omnibus law aimed to change the economic environment and make investing in Indonesia easier. Indonesia requires significant foreign direct investment over the next several years to achieve its (lofty) 8 percent growth target.³²⁴ Washington could pursue a sectoral agreement in digital trade, invest more in green energy, and spend more on infrastructure investments through vehicles such as the Development Finance Corporation.

Expand joint maritime exercises, including in the South China Sea. Indonesia and the United States have stepped up their joint military exercises and initiatives in recent years, including via efforts such as Super Garuda Shield, Rim of the Pacific, and the Pacific Partnership.³²⁵ The two countries should expand these efforts, add additional partner countries to them, and look for other opportunities to increase interoperability and build operational capacity.

Support democracy and human rights. Indonesia has assumed a prominent position in promoting democracy, including through the Bali Democracy Forum and similar efforts. The United States and Indonesia should forge a minilateral grouping, together with other democracies, that support democratic forces in the Indo-Pacific with funding, diplomacy, and coordination.

Invest in people-to-people ties and education. The United States should pursue a strong foundation for long-term cooperation by expanding Fulbright scholarships to Indonesia, encouraging American universities to establish a presence in Jakarta, and sponsoring visiting fellowships for Indonesians in the United States. In the near term, given the reductions in such programs, the ones focused on Indonesia should be protected from cuts.

Saudi Arabia

Establish a broader security framework and encourage regional normalization. Before Hamas's 2024 attacks derailed progress toward Saudi-Israel normalization, the framework for a regional diplomatic deal and a robust U.S.-Saudi security agreement were nearly in place. Washington should take up the effort again, with some changes. The aims should be Saudi-Israeli normalization, a light water nuclear reactor in exchange for bolstered Saudi nonproliferation commitments, a Saudi commitment to prevent China from establishing military installations in the Kingdom, and a strengthened bilateral security relationship (including, for example, expedited weapons sales) that remains short of a mutual defense agreement.

Establish a bilateral technology framework. The two countries should create a regular forum to discuss emerging technologies and their development, including data centers, semiconductor controls, and the proliferation of new artificial intelligence models. Washington should facilitate technology transfers between the United States and Saudi Arabia and explore a fund to provide third countries with alternatives to Chinese technology, especially in data centers and 6G telecom.

Boost bilateral trade agreements, investment incentives, and industrial partnerships. Despite growing economic ties between Saudi Arabia and China, the United States remains Riyadh's preferred partner in high-tech industries, defense, and financial markets. However, legal restrictions, along with trade and regulatory barriers, risk creating a vacuum that China is well positioned to fill. Washington should conduct an audit of the barriers to bilateral economic relations and seek to eliminate them through agreements and policy changes.

Expand U.S.-Saudi green technology trade part-nerships. This will ensure that Riyadh sources advanced energy solutions from American firms rather than competitors. Saudi Arabia is actively investing in hydrogen, solar, and carbon capture technologies as part of its Vision 2030 energy diversification strategy. Developing joint ventures in

hydrogen production, battery storage, and sustainable infrastructure could advance mutual economic interests. Washington should also seek to take advantage of Saudi Arabia's \$2.5 trillion in untapped mineral wealth, which includes lithium, copper, and rare earth elements.

Reinforce U.S. capital market accessibility and financial cooperation. In doing this, the United States can sustain Saudi confidence in dollar-based investments and ensure that alternative financial systems remain secondary rather than primary options. The Public Investment Fund remains heavily invested in U.S. equities and Treasury securities, signaling continued Saudi reliance on Western financial stability. The Kingdom can play an important role in reinforcing the existing financial order, and the United States should work with it to do so, including by maintaining the stability of its own markets through a rational and predictable trade policy.

Speak up on behalf of human rights. The Khashoggi killing dealt a nearly mortal blow to U.S.-Saudi relations, and the imprisonment of American citizens in the Kingdom for political crimes has diverted an otherwise productive bilateral agenda. Washington should not imagine that Saudi Arabia will become a liberal democracy anytime soon, but nor should it remain silent in the face of domestic human rights abuses. Saudis and others should see Washington stand up for universal values, and Saudi officials should understand that relations with the United States will never reach their true potential while abuses continue.

South Africa

Replace the AGOA with a bilateral trade agreement. South Africa has benefited from access to the U.S. market provided by the African Growth and Opportunity Act. The arrangement is, however, onesided, with the AGOA's endurance contingent on Washington's willingness to renew the benefit. The two countries should move toward a reciprocal, sustainable trade footing by pursuing a bilateral trade deal in which both sides lower barriers and make binding commitments. **Pursue critical mineral cooperation.** South Africa is home to one of only three high-quality manganese processing plants in the world (the other two are PRC-owned) and is the source of other critical minerals. If and when the broader political relationship improves, Washington should explore incorporating South Africa into Inflation Reduction Act incentives that could boost production for U.S. consumption.

Expand educational and people-to-people exchanges. Russia and China have extensive soft power efforts in South Africa, including sponsoring exchanges and study centers, strategic communications efforts, and attempts at elite capture. Washington should expand its own efforts, including by bringing rising political and business leaders to the United States.

Include South Africa in the Lobito Corridor. The Lobito Corridor is a G7-led infrastructure project that connects the port of Lobito in Angola to the Democratic Republic of Congo and Zambia. It aims to boost trade and economic development in the region by facilitating access to critical minerals and other goods. South Africa would benefit from investment in its infrastructure through the project, which would also facilitate the flow of critical minerals from South Africa into U.S. markets.

Sustain cooperation in health. Through the President's Emergency Plan for AIDS Relief (PEPFAR), the United States has invested more than \$110 billion to save some 26 million lives, including in South Africa.³²⁶ The future of PEPFAR is currently in doubt as the Trump administration eliminates a wide swath of foreign aid programs. Its elimination or diminishment would amount to a historic mistake; instead, the United States should continue to deliver lifesaving treatment to millions of South Africans.

Implement Global Magnitsky Act sanctions against corrupt individuals. Corruption is endemic in South Africa, and some illicit activity has been linked to sanctioned Russian oligarchs and even terrorist financing.³²⁷ Washington should impose Global Magnitsky Act sanctions on officials involved in corruption and human rights abuses. **Revitalize the U.S.-South Africa Bilateral Commission.** The commission was a set of biannual high-level conversations to privately review and discuss the strategic relationship. Instead of litigating serious disagreements through the media, making use of this commission to address challenges to bilateral cooperation might help to salvage an important relationship that is currently in tatters.

Türkiye

Work together to stabilize post-Assad Syria. The fall of Bashar al-Assad's regime in Syria offers an opportunity for the United States and Türkiye previously divided over support to Kurdish forces there—to work toward common ends. The two should encourage the integration of the SDF into Syrian national armed forces, organize donor nations in support of reconstruction, and push the new regime in Damascus to govern in a tolerant and inclusive fashion.

Cooperate on nuclear power. Türkiye is building, with Russian support, a major nuclear power plant and intends to expand its efforts to generate zero-carbon power. The United States should encourage U.S. firms, or potentially a Western-led consortium, to bid for upcoming tenders.

Expand the defense industrial relationship. The United States and Europe remain woefully behind in defense production capacity, and Türkiye brings skill and scale to bear. The opportunities are not restricted to U.S. investment in Turkish industry; a Turkish company has, for instance, bought a facility in Texas to manufacture 155mm artillery shells in large quantities. Washington and Ankara should encourage increased bilateral defense deals that boost production in both countries. Washington's interest in acquiring drones—for both its own arsenal and those of allied countries—provides an obvious early opportunity, given Turkish drone expertise.

CONCLUSION

THE CURRENT INTERNATIONAL ORDER, and America's disposition toward it, are in tumult. While revisionist powers attempt to remake the world to suit their authoritarian preferences and desire for spheres of influence, Washington's traditional support of existing principles, rules, and institutions is very much up for grabs. The result is that sharp competition endures between the United States on the one hand and China and Russia on the other, even as U.S. policymakers remain unsettled on the very purpose of these competitions. Beijing and Moscow seem clearer on their own objectives—their contests with the United States turn significantly on the way in which the world is ordered.

American policymakers would disengage from efforts to preserve an ordered world at their peril. The key pillars of international order have generated concrete benefits for Americans and can continue to do so. Yet the effort to preserve global order cannot imply maximal U.S. exertion in every region and equivalent ties with every country. Washington must prioritize its efforts and resources on relationships and issues where the potential payoff is high and the opportunity cost of disengagement is plain. The global swing states, which will play a disproportionate role in the contest for international order, represent a natural area of focus for U.S. foreign policy.

Brazil, India, Indonesia, Saudi Arabia, South Africa, and Türkiye are vastly different countries in many respects. Yet each is muti-aligned, with dominant regional roles and global ambitions. All seek changes in international rules and institutions, and each is courted, to greater and lesser degrees, by great powers hoping to boost their own influence. The United States should prioritize the global swing states in its foreign policy, working with them to bolster the core principles of international order and to deny advantages to America's great power rivals.

That requires treating each of the six as more than a pawn in great power competition. They are significant powers in their own right, with their own interests and agency. The United States should engage with the global swing states in ways that benefit both sides. Its aim should be to make progress toward what must be Washington's ultimate goal: preserving the key pillars of international order, even as specific rules and institutions adapt. That is a generational task, and one worthy of the United States and its allies and partners.

- 1. Andrea Kendall-Taylor and Richard Fontaine, "The Axis of Upheaval: How America's Adversaries Are Uniting to Overturn the Global Order," *Foreign Affairs*, April 23, 2024, https://www.foreignaffairs.com/china/axis-upheaval-russia-iran-north-korea-taylor-fontaine.
- 2. Interviews with experts and officials in Brazil and Indonesia in October and September 2024.
- Dan Kliman and Richard Fontaine, Global Swing States: Brazil, India, Indonesia, Turkey and the Future of International Order (Center for a New American Security, November 27, 2012), 26, https://www.cnas.org/publications/reports/global-swing-states-brazil-india-indonesia-turkey-and-the-future-of-international-order.
- Kendall-Taylor and Fontaine, "The Axis of Upheaval: How America's Adversaries Are Uniting to Overturn the Global Order."
- Kendall-Taylor and Fontaine, "The Axis of Upheaval: How America's Adversaries Are Uniting to Overturn the Global Order."
- Kendall-Taylor and Fontaine, "The Axis of Upheaval: How America's Adversaries Are Uniting to Overturn the Global Order."
- This section draws significantly from: Robert D. Blackwill and Richard Fontaine, Lost Decade: The US Pivot to Asia and the Rise of Chinese Power (New York: Oxford University Press, 2024).
- 8. Kliman and Fontaine, Global Swing States: Brazil, India, Indonesia, Turkey and the Future of International Order.
- 9. Graham Allison, "The Myth of the Liberal Order: From Historical Accident to Conventional Wisdom," Foreign Affairs, June 14, 2018, 124-133, https://www.foreignaffairs.com/united-states/myth-liberal-order; See also citations for Stephen M. Walt and Patrick Porter in: Emile Simpson, "There's Nothing Wrong with the Liberal Order That Can't Be Fixed by What's Right With It," Foreign Policy, August 7, 2018, https://foreign-policy.com/2018/08/07/theres-nothing-wrong-with-the-liberal-order-that-cant-be-fixed-by-whats-right-with-it/.
- 10. Margaret Brennan, "Transcript: Robert O'Brien on 'Face the Nation.' November 10, 2019," CBS News, November 10, 2019, https://www.cbsnews.com/news/transcript-robert-obrienon-face-the-nation-november-10-2019/.
- 11. United Nations Convention on the Law of the Sea, December, 10, 1982, 1833 U.N.T.S. 397, https://treaties.un.org/pages/showdetails.aspx?objid=0800000280043ad5.
- "The Doha Round Finally Dies a Merciful Death," Financial Times, December 21, 2015, https://www.ft.com/content/9cb1ab9e-a7e2-11e5-955c-1e1d6de94879.
- World Bank Group, Trade (% of GDP), (Trade as a Percent of GDP for All Countries from 1960–2023, accessed on May 2, 2025), <u>https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/NE.TRD.GNFS.</u> ZS.
- 14. Ismail Shakil, "Trump Repeats Tariffs Threat to Dissuade BRICS Nations from Replacing US Dollar," Reuters, January 30, 2025, https://www.reuters.com/markets/currencies/trumprepeats-tariffs-threat-dissuade-brics-nations-replacing-usdollar-2025-01-31/.

- Andrea Shalal, "Trump Repeats Threat to Use Military Force If Iran Does Not Agree to Nuclear Deal," Reuters, April 9, 2025, https://www.reuters.com/world/trump-repeatsthreat-use-military-force-if-iran-does-not-agree-nucleardeal-2025-04-09/; Natalie Allison and Michael Birnbaum, "How Trump Got to 'Yes' on Bombing Iran," The Washington Post, June 22, 2025, https://www.washingtonpost.com/ politics/2025/06/22/trump-iran-strike-decision/.
- 16. James A. Dorn, "China's Constitutional Rights: A Grand Illusion," CATO Institute, September 1, 2021, <u>https://www.cato.org/blog/chinas-constitutional-rights-grand-illusion;</u> "The Constitution of the Russian Federation," Government of the Russian Federation, <u>http://archive.government.ru/eng/gov/base/54.html.</u>
- 17. Kliman and Fontaine, Global Swing States: Brazil, India, Indonesia, Turkey and the Future of International Order.
- Tim Maurer and Robert Morgus, *Tipping the Scale: An Analysis of Global Swing States in the Internet Governance Debate* (Global Commission on Internet Governance, Chatham House, and the Centre for International Governance Innovation, June 2014), https://www.cigionline.org/static/ documents/gcig_paper_no2.pdf; Heather A. Conley, et al., *Alliances in a Shifting Global Order: Rethinking Transatlantic Engagement with Global Swing States* (German Marshall Fund, May 2, 2023), https://www.gmfus.org/news/alliances-shifting-global-order-rethinking-transatlantic-engagement-global-swing-states.
- Interviews with Turkish government officials and experts in Ankara, Türkiye, from February 17 to 19, 2025.
- 20. Dhruva Jaishankar, "India: A Reformist Power in a Transforming International Order," working paper (Center for a New American Security, May 29, 2024); "India as a Global Swing State," private working group, Center for a New American Security, discussion held on May 29, 2024.
- 21. International Monetary Fund, IMF Datamapper, (GDP Based on Purchasing Power Parity for Countries in 2025, accessed May 2, 2025), https://www.imf.org/external/datamapper/ PPPSH@WEO/OEMDC/ADVEC/WEOWORLD.
- 22. "Founding Member Countries," New Development Bank, https://www.ndb.int/about-ndb/members/; "Indonesia to Join BRICS' New Development Bank," Reuters, March 25, 2025, https://www.reuters.com/world/ indonesia-join-brics-new-development-bank-president-says-2025-03-25/; Stewart Patrick, et.al., "BRICS Expansion and the Future of World Order: Perspectives from Member States, Partners, and Aspirants," (Carnegie Endowment for International Order, March 31, 2025), https://carnegieendowment.org/research/2025/03/bricsexpansion-and-the-future-of-world-order-perspectivesfrom-member-states-partners-and-aspirants?lang=en; Christoph Nedopil, "Countries of the Belt and Road Initiative," Green Finance & Development Center, FISF Fudan University, February 2025, www.greenfdc.org; "Members and Prospective Members of the Bank," Asia Infrastructure Investment Bank, https://www.aiib.org/en/about-aiib/governance/members-of-bank/index.html; "About G20", G20 2023 India, http://g20.in/en/about-g20/about-g20.html; "Member States," United Nations, https://www.un.org/en/ about-us/member-states; and "Member Countries," World Bank Group, https://www.worldbank.org/en/about/leadership/members.

- 23. For a detailed analysis of Russia's quest to reshape the world order and how its war in Ukraine has calcified these efforts, see, Jeffrey Mankoff, "The War in Ukraine and Russia's Quest to Reshape the World Order." Survival 66, no 5 (October/ November 2024): 99–126, https://www.iiss.org/globalassets/ media-library---content--migration/files/publications/ strategic-comments-delta/2024/66-5-book-221024.pdf.
- 24. "China's Xi Tells Putin of 'Changes Not Seen for 100 Years'," Al Jazeera, March 22, 2023, https://www.aljazeera.com/ news/2023/3/22/xi-tells-putin-of-changes-not-seenfor-100.
- Simone McCarthy, "In Beijing, Xi and Putin Left No Question of Their Close Alignment in a Divided World," CNN, May 17, 2024, https://www.cnn.com/2024/05/17/china/xi-putin-china-visit-takeaways-intl-hnk/index.html.
- 26. Kendall-Taylor and Fontaine, "The Axis of Upheaval: How America's Adversaries are Uniting to Overturn the Global Order."
- Antony J. Blinken, "America's Strategy of Renewal," Foreign Affairs, October 1, 2024, https://www.foreignaffairs.com/ united-states/antony-blinken-americas-strategy-renewal-leadership-new-world; Jonathan Rauch, "The World s Realigning," The Atlantic, July 1, 2024, https://www.theatlantic. com/ideas/archive/2024/07/russia-china-nato-axis-resistance/678831/.
- Annual Threat Assessment of the U.S. Intelligence Community (Office of the Director of National Intelligence, March 2025), https://www.dni.gov/files/ODNI/documents/assessments/ATA-2025-Unclassified-Report.pdf.
- Kendall-Taylor and Fontaine, "The Axis of Upheaval: How America's Adversaries are Uniting to Overturn the Global Order."
- 30. Annual Threat Assessment of the U.S. Intelligence Community.
- Kendall-Taylor and Fontaine, "The Axis of Upheaval: How America's Adversaries are Uniting to Overturn the Global Order."
- Kliman and Fontaine, Global Swing States: Brazil, India, Indonesia, Turkey and the Future of International Order, 12.
- 33. Jo Inge Bekkevold, "No, the World Is Not Multipolar," Foreign Policy, September 22, 2023, https://foreignpolicy. com/2023/09/22/multipolar-world-bipolar-power-geopolitics-business-strategy-china-united-states-india/.
- 34. Alexander Gabuev and Oliver Stuenkel, "The Battle for the BRICS: Why the Future of the Bloc Will Shape Global Order," Foreign Affairs, September 24, 2024, <u>https://www.foreignaffairs.com/russia/battle-brics.</u>
- 35. Filipe Porto and Genevieve Donnellon-May, "Shaky Foundations for the New Development Bank," The Interpreter, April 27, 2023, https://www.lowyinstitute.org/the-interpreter/ shaky-foundations-new-development-bank.
- 36. Gabuev and Stuenkel, "The Battle for the BRICS: Why the Future of the Bloc Will Shape Global Order."
- 37. Gabuev and Stuenkel, "The Battle for the BRICS: Why the Future of the Bloc Will Shape Global Order."

- 38. Gabuev and Stuenkel, "The Battle for the BRICS: Why the Future of the Bloc Will Shape Global Order."
- Keith Bradsher, "China Invested \$1 Trillion to Gain Global Influence. Can That Go On?" The New York Times, October 16, 2023, https://www.nytimes.com/2023/10/16/business/ chinas-belt-and-road-initiative-bri.html.
- 40. Maria Adele Carrai, "Is America Losing the Global South? Assessing the Dynamics of Sino-American Rivalry in Infrastructure Diplomacy," Orbis 67, no. 4 (2023): 524–543, https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/abs/pii/ S0030438723000388.
- Cathleen D. Cimino-Isaacs, Ben Dolven, and Michael D. Sutherland, Regional Comprehensive Economic Partnership (RCEP) (Congressional Research Service, October 17, 2022), https://crsreports.congress.gov/product/pdf/IF/IF11891.
- The Shanghai Cooperation Organisation, "Frequently Asked Questions," last updated November 27, 2023, https://eng. sectsco.org/20231127/1168690.html; Matthew Southerland, Will Green, and Sierra Janik, The Shanghai Cooperation Organization: A Testbed for Chinese Power Projection (U.S.-China Economic and Security Review Commission, November 12, 2020), https://www.uscc.gov/sites/default/ files/2020-11/Shanghai_Cooperation_Organization-Testbed_for_Chinese_Power_Projection.pdf.
- 43. "Türkiye's Erdoğan Targets Joining Shanghai Cooperation Organisation, Media Reports Say," Reuters, September 17, 2022, https://www.reuters.com/world/middle-east/Türkiyes-Erdoğan-targets-joining-shanghai-cooperation-organisation-media-2022-09-17/.
- 44. Katherine Doyle and Vaughn Hillyard, "Trump Suggests He Could Use Military Force to Acquire Panama Canal and Greenland and 'Economic Force' to Annex Canada," NBC, January 7, 2025, https://www.nbcnews.com/politics/donald-trump/trump-suggests-use-military-force-acquire-panama-canal-greenland-econo-rcna186610.
- 45. "Fact Sheet: President Donald J. Trump Imposes Tariffs on Imports from Canada, Mexico and China," The White House, February 1, 2025, https://www.whitehouse.gov/factsheets/2025/02/fact-sheet-president-donald-j-trump-imposes-tariffs-on-imports-from-canada-mexico-and-china/.
- 46. Davis Winkie, "Amid New Trump Era, South Korea Considers 'Plan B' – Building Its Own Nuclear Weapons," USA Today, March 13, 2025, https://www.usatoday.com/story/news/ world/2025/03/13/trump-concerns-lead-south-korea-tosay-developing-nukes-not-off-table/80837029007/.
- Diana Roy, "Brazil's Global Ambitions," backgrounder, Council on Foreign Relations, September 19, 2022, https://www.cfr. org/backgrounder/brazils-global-ambitions.
- Irene Mia, "Brazil's (Geopolitical) Moment?" International Institute for Strategic Studies, April 17, 2024, https://www.iiss. org/online-analysis/online-analysis/2024/04/brazils-geopolitical-moment/.
- 49. Interview with government officials in Brasilia, Brazil, on October 16, 2024.
- 50. Howard W. French, "Why Lula's Visit to Beijing Matters More Than Macron's," *Foreign Policy*, April 24, 2023, https:// foreignpolicy.com/2023/04/24/lula-brazil-china-xi-jinpingmeeting-ukraine-france-macron-vassal/.

- Andrew Sanders, "Brazil as a Global Swing State," working paper (Center for a New American Security, September 19, 2024), 1.
- "Russia Backs Brazil's Bid for UN Security Council Permanent Seat Envoy," TASS, July 26, 2024, <u>https://tass.com/</u>politics/1821561.
- 53. Tareq Helou, "Brazil's Reliance on Russian Fertilisers: A Vulnerability Turned Geopolitical?" United Nations University Institute on Comparative Regional Integration Studies, June 15, 2022, https://cris.unu.edu/brazil%E2%80%99s-reliance-russian-fertilisers-vulnerability-turned-geopolitical.
- 54. "People's Republic of China," Ministry of Foreign Affairs of Brazil, February 7, 2025, https://www.gov.br/mre/en/ subjects/bilateral-relations/all-countries/people-s-republic-of-china.
- 55. Interview with government officials in Brasilia, Brazil, on October 17, 2024.
- 56. Ricardo Brito and Eduardo Baptista, "Xi and Lula Elevate China-Brazil Ties in State Visit," Reuters, November 20, 2024, https://www.reuters.com/world/china/chinas-xi-visitsbrasilia-cap-tour-flexing-diplomatic-clout-2024-11-20/.
- 57. Ryan C. Berg and Carlos Baena, "The Great Balancing Act: Lula in China and the Future of U.S.-Brazil Relations," Center for Strategic and International Studies, April 19, 2023, https://www.csis.org/analysis/great-balancing-act-lula-china-and-future-us-brazil-relations.
- 58. Berg and Baena, "The Great Balancing Act: Lula in China and the Future of U.S.-Brazil Relations."
- 59. Margaret Myers, Ángel Melguizo, and Yifang Wang, "NEW INFRASTRUCTURE" Emerging Trends in Chinese Foreign Direct Investment in Latin America and the Caribbean (Inter-American Dialogue, January 2024), https://thedialogue. org/wp-content/uploads/2024/12/Emerging-Trends-in-Chinese-Foreign-Direct-Investment-in-LAC-4.pdf.
- 60. Igor Patrick, "Brazil Backs Away from Joining China's Belt and Road but Keeps Funding Door Ajar," South China Morning Post, October 29, 2024, https://www.scmp.com/news/ china/diplomacy/article/3284244/brazil-backs-away-joining-chinas-belt-and-road-keeps-funding-door-ajar.
- 61. Interview with government officials in Brasilia, Brazil, on October 17, 2024; Karl Plume and Hallie Gu, "After Trade Talks in U.S., China Ramps Up Brazilian Soy Purchases," Reuters, October 18, 2019, https://www.reuters.com/article/ususa-trade-china-soybeans/after-trade-talks-in-us-chinaramps-up-brazilian-soy-purchases-idUSKBN1WX1AG/.
- 62. Berg and Baena, "The Great Balancing Act: Lula in China and the Future of U.S.-Brazil Relations."
- Ryan C. Berg, et. al., The Future of U.S.-Brazil Security Cooperation: Opportunities Presented by Brazil's Major Non-NATO Ally Status (Center for Strategic and International Studies, July 15, 2022), https://www.csis.org/analysis/ future-us-brazil-security-cooperation-opportunities-presented-brazils-major-non-nato-ally; "Brazil, U.S. Sign Agreement to Develop Defence Technology," Reuters, March 8, 2020, https://www.reuters.com/article/us-usa-brazil-defense/brazil-us-sign-agreement-to-develop-defense-technology-idUSKBN20V0X7/; and U.S. Embassy and Consulates

in Brazil, "Fifth Meeting of the Brazil-U.S. Joint Commission on Science and Technology Held in Brasilia," press release, March 6, 2020, https://br.usembassy.gov/fifth-meeting-ofthe-brazil-u-s-joint-commission-on-science-and-technology-held-in-brasilia/.

- 64. "United States of America," Ministry of Foreign Affairs of Brazil, March 27, 2025, https://www.gov.br/mre/ en/subjects/bilateral-relations/all-countries/united-states-of-america.
- 65. "U.S. Relations With Brazil," U.S. Department of State, January 20, 2025, archived on February 7, 2025, https://web. archive.org/web/20250207041936/https://www.state.gov-/u-s-relations-with-brazil/; "Fact Sheet: President Donald J. Trump Ensures National Security and Economic Resilience Through Section 232 Actions on Processed Critical Minerals and Derivative Products," The White House, April 15, 2025, https://www.whitehouse.gov/fact-sheets/2025/04/ fact-sheet-president-donald-j-trump-ensures-national-security-and-economic-resilience-through-section-232-actions-on-processed-critical-minerals-and-derivative-products/.
- 66. Berg and Baena, "The Great Balancing Act: Lula in China and the Future of U.S.-Brazil Relations."
- 67. "What Is Brazil Cost and How Does It Affect Companies?" American Chamber of Commerce in Brazil, November 21, 2024, https://www.amcham.com.br/blog/custo-brasil.
- Johanne Døhlie Saltnes, "Brazil and Multilateralism: Sovereignty in Disguise?" (panel, European Consortium for Political Research, Charles University, Prague, Czech Republic, September 2023), <u>https://ecpr.eu/Events/Event/</u> PaperDetails/67305.
- Oliver Steunkel, Why Brazil Has Not Criticised Russia Over Crimea, (Norwegian Peacebuilding Resource Center, May 2014), https://www.files.ethz.ch/ isn/180529/65655a04cd21b64dbcc9c8a823a8e736.pdf.
- 70. Steunkel, Why Brazil Has Not Criticised Russia Over Crimea."
- 71. Danilo Marcondes and Antonio Ruy de Almeida Silva, "The Role of Brazil in the Russia-Ukraine Conflict: A Potential Peace Enabler?" *Journal of International Affairs* 75, no. 2 (Spring/Summer 2023), https://jia.sipa.columbia.edu/content/role-brazil-russia-ukraine-conflict-potential-peaceenabler.
- 72. André Spigariol and Jack Nicas, "A Problem for Ukraine: Countries Like Brazil Won't Sell It Arms," *The New York Times*, April 12, 2023, https://www.nytimes. com/2023/04/12/world/americas/brazil-ukraine-weapons. html; Palácio do Planalto, "Brazil and China Present Joint Proposal for Peace Negotiations with the Participation of Russia and Ukraine," press release, May 23, 2024, https:// www.gov.br/planalto/en/latest-news/2024/05/brazil-andchina-present-joint-proposal-for-peace-negotiations-withthe-participation-of-russia-and-ukraine.
- 73. Bruno Kelly, "Brazil's Military Reinforces Border with Venezuela and Guyana Due to Esequibo," Reuters, https:// www.reuters.com/world/americas/brazils-military-reinforces-border-with-venezuela-guyana-due-esequibo-2024-02-02/.

- 74. Lachlan Williams, "Brazil Leads Naval Mission Against Red Sea Piracy," *The Rio Times*, February 5, 2024, <u>https://www.</u> riotimesonline.com/brazil-leads-naval-mission-against-redsea-piracy/.
- Jacob Sippel, "PANAMAX 2024 Kicks Off at Naval Station Mayport," United States Navy, August 9, 2024, https://www. navy.mil/Press-Office/News-Stories/Article/3867545/panamax-2024-kicks-off-at-naval-station-mayport/.
- Matthew Dalton, "Brazilian to Lead World Trade Body," The Wall Street Journal, May 7, 2013, https://www.wsj.com/articles/SB10001424127887323826804578469070235114326.
- Sanders, "Brazil as a Global Swing State," 5; Randy Schnepf, *The WTO Brazil-U.S. Cotton Case* (Congressional Research Service, October 1, 2014), 2, https://crsreports.congress. gov/product/pdf/R/R43336.
- 78. Sanders, "Brazil as a Global Swing State," 1.
- 79. "Mercosur: South America's Fractious Trade Bloc," Council on Foreign Relations, December 12, 2024 https://www. cfr.org/backgrounder/mercosur-south-americas-fractious-trade-bloc.
- Andy Bounds, "EU Strikes Blockbuster Trade Deal with Mercosur," *Financial Times*, December 6, 2024, https://www. ft.com/content/c2ab8d71-dac8-4eb8-819b-df561f016754.
- Interview with government official in Brasilia, Brazil on October 17, 2024.
- Julia Ganter, et al., Listening Beyond the Echo Chamber: Emerging Middle Powers Report 2024 (Körber Stiftung, 2024), https://koerber-stiftung.de/site/assets/files/37514/ koerber-emerging-middle-powers_report-2024.pdf.
- Joe Leahy and Hudson Lockett, "Brazil's Lula Calls for End to Dollar Trade Dominance," *Financial Times*, April 13, 2023, <u>https://www.ft.com/content/669260a5-82a5-4e7a-9bbf-</u> 4f41c54a6143.
- 84. 2023 Report to Congress (U.S.-China Economic and Security Review Commission, November 2023), 82, https://www.uscc. gov/sites/default/files/2023-11/2023_Annual_Report_to_ Congress.pdf.
- Mariana Sanches, "How Brazil and China Intend to Close Deals Without Using US Dollars," BBC, March 29, 2023, https://www.bbc.com/portuguese/articles/c0wqqne0zk2o.
- 86. "Nuclear Disarmament and Non-Proliferation of Nuclear Weapons," Ministry of Foreign Affairs of Brazil, December 16, 2024, https://www.gov.br/mre/en/subjects/internation-al-peace-and-security/disarmament-and-non-proliferation/nuclear-disarmament-and-non-proliferation-of-nuclear-weapons.
- Sharon Squassoni and David Fite, "Brazil's Nuclear History," *Arms Control Today*, October 2005, <u>https://www.armscon-</u> trol.org/act/2005-10/brazils-nuclear-history.
- "Brazil," International Campaign to Abolish Nuclear Weapons, https://www.icanw.org/brazil.
- Mission of Brazil to the United Nations in New York, "Statement by the Delegation of Brazil," statement, October 5, 2021, https://www.reachingcriticalwill.org/images/docu-

ments/Disarmament-fora/1com/1com21/statements/5Oct_ Brazil.pdf.

- 90. Drawn from Sanders, "Brazil as a Global Swing State"; Togzhan Kasseneova, "Brazil and the Global Nuclear Order," in Brazil on the Global Stage: Power, Ideas, and the Liberal International Order, ed. Oliver Stuenkel and Matthew M. Taylor (Palgrave Macmillan, 2015), 130.
- 91. Sanders, "Brazil as a Global Swing State."
- Daphne Morrison, "Brazil's Nuclear Ambitions, Past and Present," Nuclear Threat Initiative, August 31, 2006, https://www. nti.org/analysis/articles/brazils-nuclear-ambitions/.
- 93. Interview with government officials in Brasilia, Brazil, on October 17, 2024.
- 94. Sanders, "Brazil as a Global Swing State," 5.
- 95. Interview with government official in Brasilia, Brazil, on October 16, 2024.
- 96. "U.S. Relations With Brazil."
- "Brazil," International Justice Resource Center, February 15, 2018, https://www.ijrcenter.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/04/Brazil-Factsheet.pdf.
- 98. Ministry of Foreign Affairs of Brazil, "Actions in Favor of the Cessation of Hostilities in Gaza," press release, January 10, 2024, https://www.gov.br/mre/pt-br/canais_atendimento/ imprensa/notas-a-imprensa/acoes-em-favor-da-cessacao-de-hostilidades-em-gaza.
- Interview with government official in Brasilia, Brazil, on October 16, 2024.
- 100. Leonardo de Andrade Alves, "The Brazilian Army Experience in Civil-Military Interactions," *Military Review*, October 2022, https://www.armyupress.army.mil/journals/military-review/ online-exclusive/2022-ole/alves/.
- 101. Mohamed A. El-Erian and Michael Spence, "The Indian Giant Has Arrived," Project Syndicate, March 22, 2024, https:// www.project-syndicate.org/onpoint/india-must-manageits-own-growing-global-systemic-importance-by-mohameda-el-erian-and-michael-spence-2024-03; Rumki Majumdar and Debdatta Ghatak, "India's Economic Outlook, May 2025," Deloitte Global Economics Research Center, May 2, 2025, https://www2.deloitte.com/us/en/insights/economy/ asia-pacific/india-economic-outlook.html.
- 102. Kabir Taneja, "India's New Middle East Strategy Takes Shape," *Foreign Policy*, November 17, 2023, https://foreignpolicy. com/2023/11/17/india-modi-israel-netanyahu-uae-saudi-middle-east-strategy-takes-shape/.
- 103. ""India-Russia Ties the Only Constant in World Politics', Says EAM Jaishankar," *Hindustan Times*, December 27, 2023, https://www.hindustantimes.com/india-news/indiarussiaties-the-only-constant-in-world-politics-says-eam-jaishankar-101703614878217.html.
- 104. Chietigj Bajpaee and Lisa Toremark, "India-Russia Relations," Chatham House, October 17, 2024, https://www.chathamhouse.org/2024/10/india-russia-relations.

- 105. Nidhi Verma, "India Surpasses China to Become Russia's Top Oil Buyer in July," Reuters, August 22, 2024, https://www. reuters.com/markets/commodities/india-surpasses-china-become-russias-top-oil-buyer-july-2024-08-22/.
- 106. Paul Sonne and Anupreeta Das, "Modi's Moscow Visit Showcases a Less Isolated Putin, Angering Ukraine," *The New York Times*, July 9, 2024, https://www.nytimes.com/2024/07/09/ world/europe/russia-india-modi-moscow-putin.html; Helen Regan, Mariya Knight, and Victoria Butenko, "'Huge Disappointment:' Zelensky Blasts Modi Meeting with Putin the Same Day Russian Attack Devastates Ukraine Hospital," CNN, July 9, 2024, https://www.cnn.com/2024/07/08/ europe/zelensky-modi-putin-visit-hospital-strike-intl-hnk/ index.html.
- 107. Chietigj Bajpaee, "Managing a Managed Decline: The Future of Indian-Russian Relations," War on the Rocks, February 27, 2024, https://warontherocks.com/2024/02/managing-a-managed-decline-the-future-of-indian-russian-relations/.
- 108. Bajpaee and Toremark, "India-Russia Relations."
- 109. Bajpaee and Toremark, "India-Russia Relations."
- 110. Jaishankar, "India: A Reformist Power in a Transforming International Order."
- 111. "China/India," The Observatory of Economic Complexity, accessed on April 7, 2025, https://oec.world/en/profile/bilateral-country/chn/partner/ind; Ivan Lidarev, "What's Next for China-India Relations?" The Diplomat, January 3, 2025, https://thediplomat.com/2025/01/whats-next-for-chinaindia-relations/.
- 112. "U.S. Security Cooperation with India," U.S. Department of State, January 20, 2025, https://www.state.gov/u-s-security-cooperation-with-india/.
- 113. Christopher S. Chivvis and Beatrix Geaghan-Breiner, "India in the Emerging World Order," Carnegie Endowment for International Peace, November 6, 2023, https://carnegieendowment.org/2023/11/06/india-in-emerging-world-orderpub-90928.
- 114. Naina Bhardwaj, "US Emerges as India's Largest Trade Partner in FY 2022, Surpasses China," *India Briefing*, June 6, 2022, https://www.india-briefing.com/news/us-emergesas-indias-largest-trade-partner-in-fy-2022-surpasses-china-25190.html/.
- 115. Jaishankar, "India: A Reformist Power in a Transforming International Order."
- 116. Vivek Raghuvanshi, "India, US Sign Intel-Sharing Agreement amid Tension with Neighboring China," *Defense News*, October 28, 2020, https://www.defensenews.com/ space/2020/10/28/india-us-sign-intel-sharing-agreementamid-tension-with-neighboring-china/.
- 117. "India-U.S. Emerging Technologies Working Group," Carnegie Endowment for International Peace, https://carnegieendowment.org/india/india-us-emerging-technologies-working-group?lang=en.
- 118. Soutik Biswas and Nikhil Inamdar, "Five Key Takeaways from Modi-Trump Talks," BBC, February 14, 2025, <u>https://www.</u> bbc.com/news/articles/c23ndleveymo.

- 119. Michael Kugelman, "India and China Reach Border Breakthrough," *Foreign Policy*, October 23, 2024, https://foreignpolicy.com/2024/10/23/india-china-border-agreement-ladakh-trade/.
- 120. Kugelman, "India and China Reach Border Breakthrough."
- 121. Mujib Mashal, "India Seems to Be Building Its Case for Striking Pakistan," *The New York Times*, April 27, 2025, https:// www.nytimes.com/2025/04/27/world/asia/india-pakistan-kashmir.html.
- 122. K. Alan Kronstadt, India-Russia Relations and Implications for U.S. Interests (Congressional Research Service, August 24, 2022), https://crsreports.congress.gov/product/pdf/R/ R47221/3.
- 123. "Philippines to Receive Second Batch of BrahMos Missile System from India," Reuters, April 23, 2025, https:// www.reuters.com/business/aerospace-defense/philippines-receive-second-batch-brahmos-missile-system-india-2025-04-23/.
- 124. Jaishankar, "India: A Reformist Power in a Transforming International Order."
- 125. Jaishankar, "India: A Reformist Power in a Transforming International Order."
- 126. Lee Ying Shan, "India Rules Out Joining World's Largest Trade Deal, Accuses China of 'Very Opaque' Trade Practices," CNBC, September 22, 2024, https://www.cnbc. com/2024/09/23/india-rules-out-joining-rcep-accuses-china-of-non-transparent-trade-practices.html.
- 127. Camille Gijs, "Don't Just Blame the US; India Is Blocking WTO Reform Too," *Politico*, February 16, 2024, https://www. politico.eu/article/world-trade-organization-india-united-states-protectionism-agriculture/.
- 128. Taneja, "India's New Middle East Strategy Takes Shape."
- 129. Akshobh Giridharadas, "The IMF's Role in Shaping India's Current Economic Outlook," Stimson Center, May 1, 2023, https://www.stimson.org/2023/the-imfs-role-in-shaping-indias-current-economic-outlook/; Naina Bhardwaj, "Achievements of the G20 Finance Track 2023 Under India's Presidency: Global Economic Stability, Crypto Regulation," *India Briefing*, September 11, 2023, https://www. india-briefing.com/news/achievements-of-the-g20-finance-track-2023-under-indias-presidency-global-economic-stability-crypto-regulation-29489.html/.
- 130. Meera Srinivasan, "Sri Lanka Reaches Agreement with India, Paris Club on Debt Treatment," *The Hindu*, November 29, 2023, https://www.thehindu.com/news/international/srilanka-reaches-agreement-with-india-paris-club-on-debttreatment/article67587365.ece; "Home," Paris Club, <u>https://</u> clubdeparis.org/.
- 131. Jaishankar, "India: A Reformist Power in a Transforming International Order."
- 132. Jaishankar, "India: A Reformist Power in a Transforming International Order."
- 133. Siladitya Ray, "De-Dollarization Is Certainly Not Our Objective'—India Says After Trump's 100% Tariff Threat Over BRICS Currency," Forbes, December 6, 2024, https://

www.forbes.com/sites/siladityaray/2024/12/06/de-dollarization-is-certainly-not-our-objective-india-says-aftertrumps-100-tariff-threat-over-brics-currency/.

- 134. Nidhi Verma, "Exclusive: India's Reliance to Buy Russian Oil in Roubles, Sources Say," Reuters, May 28, 2024, https:// www.reuters.com/markets/commodities/indias-reliance-buy-russian-oil-roubles-sources-say-2024-05-28/; Jaishankar, "India: A Reformist Power in a Transforming International Order."
- 135. "Nuclear Disarmament India," Nuclear Threat Initiative, September 10, 2024, https://www.nti.org/analysis/articles/ india-nuclear-disarmament/.
- 136. Jaishankar, "India: A Reformist Power in a Transforming International Order."
- 137. K. Santhanamashok Parthasarathi, "Pokhran-II Thermonuclear Test, a Failure," *The Hindu*, December 17, 2016, https:// www.thehindu.com/opinion/op-ed/Pokhran-II-thermonuclear-test-a-failure/article13736892.ece.
- 138. Jaishankar, "India: A Reformist Power in a Transforming International Order."
- Kliman and Fontaine, Global Swing States: Brazil, India, Indonesia, Turkey and the Future of International Order, 21.
- 140. "Donors," United Nations Democracy Fund, https://www. un.org/democracyfund/donors.
- 141. Prime Minister of India, "PM Addresses Summit for Democracy," press release, March 20, 2024, https://www.pmindia. gov.in/en/news_updates/pm-addresses-summit-for-democracy/.
- 142. "Ukraine: India Strongly Condemns Bucha Civilian Killings," BBC, April 6, 2022, <u>https://www.bbc.com/news/world-asia-</u> india-61006169.
- 143. "Freedom in the World 2021: India," Freedom House, https:// freedomhouse.org/country/india/freedom-world/2021.
- 144. Salil Tripathi, "India's Worsening Democracy Makes It an Unreliable Ally," *Time*, June 20, 2023, https:// time.com/6288505/indias-worsening-democracy-makes-it-an-unreliable-ally/.
- 145. Sheikh Saaliq, "India's New Citizenship Law Excludes Muslims. Here's What to Know," Associated Press, March 15, 2024, https://apnews.com/article/india-citizenship-law-modi-muslims-caa-28909f8df0e6d5e0915e065195abef14.
- 146. Maya Tudor, "Why India's Democracy Is Dying," *Journal of Democracy* 34, no. 3 (July 2023): 121–132, https://www.journalofdemocracy.org/articles/why-indias-democracy-is-dying/.
- 147. Zsombor Peter, "India Urged to End Arms Exports to War-Torn Myanmar, Voice of America, June 29, 2023, https:// www.voanews.com/a/india-urged-to-end-arms-exports-towar-torn-myanmar/7159938.html.
- 148. Mujib Mashal, Hari Kumar, and Sameer Yasir, "Killing on Live TV Renews Alarm About India's Slide Toward Extrajudicial Violence," *The New York Times*, April 16, 2023, https://www. nytimes.com/2023/04/16/world/asia/atiq-ahmed-shotindia.html; U.S. Department of Justice, "Justice Depart-

ment Announces Extradition of Indian National Charged in Connection with Foiled Plot to Assassinate U.S. Citizen in New York City," press release, June 17, 2024, https://www. justice.gov/archives/opa/pr/us-attorney-announces-extradition-indian-national-charged-connection-foiled-plot-assassinate.

- 149. "Why Indonesia Matters," *The Economist*, November 17, 2022, https://www.economist.com/leaders/2022/11/17/ why-indonesia-matters.
- 150. Dewi Fortuna Anwar, "Indonesia's Path Between the Reefs: Why Jakarta Won't Abandon Its Foreign Policy of Nonalignment," Foreign Affairs, February 12, 2024, https://www.foreignaffairs.com/indonesia/indonesias-path-between-reefs.
- 151. Anwar, "Indonesia's Path Between the Reefs: Why Jakarta Won't Abandon Its Foreign Policy of Nonalignment."
- 152. Qian Zhou, "India Dismisses US Human Rights Report as 'Deeply Biased'," *China Briefing*, November 11, 2024, https://www.china-briefing.com/news/china-indonesia-trade-and-investment-profile-opportunities/.
- 153. Zhou, "India Dismisses US Human Rights Report as 'Deeply Biased."
- 154. "Indonesia President-Elect Prabowo Says Seeks Stronger Ties with 'Great Friend' Russia," Reuters, July 31, 2024, https://www.reuters.com/world/asia-pacific/indonesiapresident-elect-prabowo-says-seeks-stronger-ties-withgreat-friend-2024-08-01/.
- 155. Derek Mitchell, "Global Swing States and the New Great Power Competition: Indonesia," working paper (Center for a New American Security, July 16, 2024).
- 156. Interview with Indonesian defense expert in Jakarta, Indonesia, on September 9, 2024.
- 157. The White House, "Joint Statement from the Leaders of the United States and the Republic of Indonesia: Elevating Relations to a Comprehensive Strategic Partnership," press release, November 12, 2024, https://bidenwhitehouse.archives. gov/briefing-room/statements-releases/2024/11/12/jointstatement-from-the-leaders-of-the-united-states-and-therepublic-of-indonesia-commemorating-75-years-of-diplomatic-relations/.
- 158. Mitchell, "Global Swing States and the New Great Power Competition: Indonesia."
- 159. Sharon Seah, et al., The State of Southeast Asia: 2024 Survey Report (ASEAN Studies Centre at ISEAS - Yusof Ishak Institute, April 2, 2024), 28, https://www.iseas.edu.sg/ centres/asean-studies-centre/state-of-southeast-asiasurvey/the-state-of-southeast-asia-2024-survey-report/; "U.S. Foreign Direct Investment 1970-2025," Macrotrends, https://www.macrotrends.net/global-metrics/countries/ usa/united-states/foreign-direct-investment.
- 160. Christopher S. Chivvis, Elina Noor, and Beatrix Geaghan-Breiner, "Indonesia in the Emerging World Order," Carnegie Endowment for International Peace, November 9, 2023, https://carnegieendowment.org/2023/11/09/indonesia-in-emerging-world-order-pub-90966.
- 161. U.S. Embassy Jakarta, "United States and Indonesia Celebrate the Opening of the "Anambas" Maritime Training

Center in Batam," press release, January 30, 2024, https:// id.usembassy.gov/united-states-and-indonesia-celebrate-the-opening-of-the-anambas-maritime-training-center-in-batam/; Anwar, "Indonesia's Path Between the Reefs"; "U.S. Security Cooperation With Indonesia"; U.S. Department of State, January 20, 2025, https://www.state. gov/u-s-security-cooperation-with-indonesia/.

- 162. "Indonesia Has No Plans to Join Anti-Russia Sanctions, Says President Widodo," TASS, March 9, 2022, <u>https://tass.com/</u> politics/1419293.
- 163. Stanley Widianto, "Indonesia Mobilises Fishermen in Stand-Off with China," Reuters, January 6, 2020, https://www. reuters.com/article/indonesia-china/indonesia-mobilises-fishermen-in-stand-off-with-china-idUSL4N29B32K.
- 164. U.S. Department of Defense, "United States DoD and Indonesia MoD Joint Press Statement," press release, August 24, 2023, https://www.defense.gov/News/Releases/Release/ Article/3504476/united-states-dod-and-indonesia-mod-joint-press-statement/.
- 165. Mitchell, "Global Swing States and the New Great Power Competition: Indonesia."
- 166. Mitchell, "Global Swing States and the New Great Power Competition: Indonesia"; Rakhmat Syarip, "Defending Foreign Policy at Home: Indonesia and the ASEAN-Based Free Trade Agreements," *Journal of Current Southeast Asian Affairs* 39, no. 3 (2020): 405–427, https://journals.sagepub. com/doi/pdf/10.1177/1868103420935556.
- 167. Association of Southeast Asian Nations, "RCEP Agreement Enters Into Force for Indonesia," press release, January 4, 2023, https://asean.org/rcep-agreement-enters-into-force-for-indonesia/.
- 168. Kristen Hopewell, "The World Is Abandoning the WTO: And America and China Are Leading the Way," *Foreign Affairs*, October 7, 2024, https://www.foreignaffairs.com/united-states/world-abandoning-wto-china-leading-way-kristen-hopewell.
- 169. Mitchell, "Global Swing States and the New Great Power Competition: Indonesia."
- 170. Nicholas Owen, "Relentless Reformer," International Monetary Fund, December 2024, https://www.imf.org/en/Publications/fandd/issues/2024/12/Trenches-relentless-reformer-sri-mulyani-indrawati.
- 171. Yvette Tanamal and A. Muh. Ibnu Aqil, "Indonesia Reiterates Call to Reform Global Financial System," *The Jakarta Post*, September 25, 2023, https://www.thejakartapost. com/world/2023/09/23/indonesia-reiterates-call-to-reform-global-financial-system.html.
- 172. International Finance Corporation, "IFC's First Sustainability-Linked Loan in Indonesia to Decarbonize Retail Properties and Support Green Building Development," press release, February 6, 2025, https://www.ifc.org/en/pressroom/2025/ ifc-s-first-sustainability-linked-loan-in-indonesia-to-decarbonize-retail-properti.
- 173. Tom Abke, "Indonesia Committed to Nuclear-Free ASEAN, Global Disarmament," Indo-Pacific Defense Forum, October 23, 2023, https://ipdefenseforum.com/2023/10/indonesia-committed-to-nuclear-free-asean-global-disarmament/.

- 174. "Indonesia," The International Campaign to Abolish Nuclear Weapons, https://www.icanw.org/indonesia.
- 175. Kate Lamb, "Indonesia's Defense Minister Says 'Understand, Respects' AUKUS Pact," Reuters, November 22, 2021, https://www.reuters.com/world/asia-pacific/ indonesias-defence-minister-says-understands-respects-aukus-pact-2021-11-22/.
- 176. Minister for Foreign Affairs, Senator the Honorable Penny Wong, "Joint Statement on the Eighth Australia-Indonesia Foreign and Defence Ministers' 2+2 Meeting," press release, February 10, 2023, https://www.foreignminister.gov.au/minister/penny-wong/media-release/joint-statement-eighth-australia-indonesia-foreign-and-defence-ministers-22-meeting.
- 177. Interview with Indonesian government officials on September 11, 2024.
- 178. "Indonesia Stresses on ASEAN's Centrality to Address Myanmar Crisis," ANTARA, January 10, 2025, https://en.antaranews. com/news/340886/indonesia-stresses-on-aseans-centrality-to-address-myanmar-crisis.
- 179. Democracy Index 2017: Free Speech Under Attack (Economist Intelligence Unit, 2017), https://www.eiu.com/n/campaigns/ democracy-index-2017-free-speech-under-attack/.
- 180. "Indonesia: New Criminal Code Assaults Rights," Human Rights Watch, January 12, 2023, https://www.hrw.org/ news/2023/01/12/indonesia-new-criminal-code-assaults-rights; "Indonesia: Papuan Protesters Shot, Beaten and Racially Abused by Security Forces – New Research," Amnesty International, August 20, 2021, https://www.amnesty.org/ en/latest/news/2021/08/indonesia-papuan-protesters-shot-beaten-and-racially-abused-by-security-forces-new-research/.
- 181. Carolyn Nash, "In Indonesia, Prabowo's Dark Past Casts a Pall Over His Presidency," World Politics Review, October 24, 2024, <u>https://www.amnestyusa.org/blog/in-indonesia-prabowos-</u> dark-past-casts-a-pall-over-his-presidency/.
- 182. "Saudi Arabia Facts and Figures," Organization of the Petroleum Exporting Countries, <u>https://www.opec.org/saudi-ara-</u> bia.html.
- 183. Hesham Alghannam, "How China Aligned Itself with Saudi Arabia's Vision 2030," Carnegie Endowment for International Peace, January 21, 2025, https://carnegieendowment.org/ posts/2025/01/how-china-aligned-itself-with-saudi-arabiasvision-2030?lang=en.
- 184. Vivian Nereim, "China and Saudi Arabia Sign Strategic Partnership as Xi Visits Kingdom," *The New York Times*, December 8, 2022, https://www.nytimes.com/2022/12/08/world/middleeast/china-saudi-arabia-agreement.html.
- 185. Samuel Stolton, "China Brokers a Deal Between Iran and Saudi Arabia After a 7-Year Dispute," *Politico*, March 11, 2023, <u>https://www.politico.eu/article/china-broker-deal-iran-saudiarabia-diplomatic-relations-sheikh-nimr-al-nimr-missile-attacks/.</u>
- 186. Steven Erlanger, David Pierson, and Lynsey Chutel, "Iran, Saudi Arabia and Egypt Invited to Join Emerging Nations Group," *The New York Times*, August 24, 2023, https://www.nytimes. com/2023/08/24/world/europe/brics-expansion-xi-lula.html.

- 187. Jane Cai, "China Said to Be Negotiating Arms Deals with Saudi Arabia and Egypt," South China Morning Post, May 24, 2023, https://www.scmp.com/news/china/military/article/3221715/china-said-be-negotiating-arms-deals-saudiarabia-and-egypt.
- 188. Conversation with Biden administration official involved in negotiations.
- 189. United Nations, "UN General Assembly Calls for Immediate End to War in Ukraine," press release, February 23, 2023, https://news.un.org/en/story/2023/02/1133847.
- 190. Jackie Northam, "The White House Accuses Saudi Arabia of Aiding Russia and Coercing OPEC Oil Producers," NPR, October 13, 2022, https://www.npr. org/2022/10/13/1128523146/saudi-arabia-russia-opecoil-cut-biden-congress-washington; Krystal Hur, "OPEC+ extends oil output cuts again through Novemben," CNN, September 5, 2024, https://www.cnn.com/2024/09/05/ investing/opec-extend-oil-output-cuts.
- 191. Northam, "The White House Accuses Saudi Arabia of Aiding Russia and Coercing OPEC Oil Producers."
- 192. Valentyn Ogirenko and Aziz El Yaakoubi, "Russia, Ukraine Announce Major Surprise Prisoner Swap," Reuters, September 22, 2022, https://www.reuters.com/world/europe/ russia-releases-10-foreigners-captured-ukraine-after-saudi-mediation-riyadh-2022-09-21/.
- 193. Christopher S. Chivvis, Aaron David Miller, and Beatrix Geaghan-Breiner, "Saudi Arabia in the Emerging World Order," Carnegie Endowment for International Peace, November 6, 2023, https://carnegieendowment.org/2023/11/06/saudiarabia-in-emerging-world-order-pub-90819.
- 194. Sam Dagher, Fiona MacDonald, and Peter Martin, "Saudi Prince Steps In as Power Broker in Trump's New World Order," *Bloomberg*, February 14, 2025, <u>https://www.bloomberg.</u> com/news/articles/2025-02-14/saudi-prince-mbs-steps-inas-power-broker-in-trump-s-new-world-order?embeddedcheckout=true.
- 195. Richard Blumenthal and Jeffrey Sonnenfeld, "The Saudis Need a Reality Check," Foreign Affairs, October 24, 2022, https://www.foreignaffairs.com/saudi-arabia/saudis-need-reality-check.
- 196. Matthew Lee, Ellen Knickmeyer, and Aamer Madhani, "With Saudi Deals, US, China Battle for Influence in Mideast," Seattle Times, March 15, 2023, https://www.seattletimes.com/ business/with-saudi-deals-us-china-battle-for-influence-inmideast/.
- Christopher M. Blanchard, Saudi Arabia: Background and U.S. Relations (Congressional Research Service, October 2, 2023), https://crsreports.congress.gov/product/pdf/RL/ RL33533.
- 198. David D. Kirkpatrick and Ben Hubbard, "Attack on Saudi Oil Facilities Tests U.S. Guarantee to Defend Gulf," *The New York Times*, September 19, 2019, <u>https://www.nytimes.com/2019/09/19/world/middleeast/saudi-iran-attack-oil. <u>html.</u></u>
- 199. Yousef Saba, Gram Slattery, Pesha Magid and Nafisa Eltahir, "Trump says US to lift Syria sanctions, secures \$600 billion Saudi deal," Reuters, May 14, 2025, https://www.reuters.

com/world/trump-starts-gulf-visit-seeking-big-economicdeals-2025-05-13/.

- 200. United Nations, "With 143 Votes in Favour, 5 Against, General Assembly Adopts Resolution Condemning Russian Federation's Annexation of Four Eastern Ukraine Regions" press release, October 12, 2022, https://press.un.org/en/2022/ga12458.doc. htm.
- 201. "Saudi Arabia Renews Diplomatic Push in Syria and Yemen," Economist Intelligence Unit, January 6, 2025, https://www.eiu. com/n/saudi-arabia-renews-diplomatic-push-in-syria-and-yemen/.
- 202. Abdallah Y. Al-Mouallimi, "Saudi Arabia," in United Nations Convention on the Law of the Sea at 30: Reflections (United Nations, 2013), 103–104, https://www.un.org/Depts/los/doalos_publications/publicationstexts/E.12.V.10.pdf.
- 203. Amal Altwaijri, "Saudi Arabia as a Global Swing State: Navigating Great Power Competition and the International Order."
- 204. Altwaijri, "Saudi Arabia as a Global Swing State: Navigating Great Power Competition and the International Order."
- 205. "Frequently Asked Questions (FAQs)," U.S. Energy Information Administration, April 11, 2024, https://www.eia.gov/tools/ faqs/faq.php?id=709&t=6.
- "U.S-Saudi Arabia Relations," Council on Foreign Relations, December 7, 2018, <u>https://www.cfr.org/backgrounder/us-sau-</u> di-arabia-relations.
- Layla Ali, "Saudi Arabia Developing a Partnership with China," Gulf Research Center, October 18, 2022, <u>https://www.grc.net/</u> single-commentary/66.
- 208. Altwaijri, "Saudi Arabia as a Global Swing State: Navigating Great Power Competition and the International Order."
- 209. Nirmal Narayanan, "Saudi Arabia Exceeds HQ Target with 540 International Firms in Riyadh, Says Al-Falih," *Arab News*, October 29, 2024, https://www.arabnews.com/node/2577251/ business-economy.
- 210. Altwaijri, "Saudi Arabia as a Global Swing State: Navigating Great Power Competition and the International Order."
- 211. Altwaijri, "Saudi Arabia as a Global Swing State: Navigating Great Power Competition and the International Order."
- 212. Altwaijri, "Saudi Arabia as a Global Swing State: Navigating Great Power Competition and the International Order."
- 213. Data drawn from Consolidated Financial Statements and Independent Auditon's Report for the Year Ended 31 December 2023 (KPMG Professional Services, 2024), https://www.nnspdf.londonstockexchange.com/rns/6683U_1-2024-7-1.pdf, and analyzed in: Altwaijri, "Saudi Arabia as a Global Swing State: Navigating Great Power Competition and the International Order."
- 214. 2023 Report to Congress, 80.
- 215. Abeer Abu Omar and Manus Cranny, "Saudi Arabia Says Open to Settling Trade in Other Currencies," *Bloomberg*, January 17, 2023, https://www.bloomberg.com/news/articles/2023-01-17/saudi-arabia-open-to-talks-on-trade-in-currencies-besides-dollar.

- 216. Altwaijri, "Saudi Arabia as a Global Swing State: Navigating Great Power Competition and the International Order."
- 217. Altwaijri, "Saudi Arabia as a Global Swing State: Navigating Great Power Competition and the International Order."
- 218. Evan O. Lisman, "Reinforcing Saudi Arabia's Non-Proliferation Obligations," Center for Arms Control and Non-Proliferation, December 11, 2020, archived on September 20, 2023, https://web.archive.org/web/20230929212956/ https://armscontrolcenter.org/reinforcing-saudi-arabias-non-proliferation-obligations/.
- 219. Bernard Haykel, "Can MBS Still Remake Saudi Arabia," *Foreign Affairs*, February 12, 2024, https://www.foreignaffairs. com/saudi-arabia/can-mbs-still-remake-saudi-arabia.
- 220. Muhammad Al-Madhaji, "Saudi Arabia's Nuclear Ambitions: US Apprehensions and China's Allure," The Wilson Center, December 13, 2023, https://www.wilsoncenter.org/ article/saudi-arabias-nuclear-ambitions-us-apprehensions-and-chinas-allure.
- 221. Amnesty International, "Saudi Arabia: Repressive Draft Penal Code Shatters Illusions of Progress and Reform," press release, March 19, 2024, https://www.amnesty.org/en/ latest/news/2024/03/saudi-arabia-repressive-draft-penalcode-shatters-illusions-of-progress-and-reform/.
- 222. "Human Rights in Saudi Arabia, 2024," Amnesty International, https://www.amnesty.org/en/location/middle-east-andnorth-africa/middle-east/saudi-arabia/report-saudi-arabia/; Human Rights Watch, "Saudi Arabia: Halt Executions of Child Offenders," press release, April 29, 2024, https:// www.hrw.org/news/2024/04/29/saudi-arabia-halt-executions-child-offenders.
- 223. "Jamal Khashoggi: All You Need to Know About Saudi Journalist's Death," BBC, February 24, 2021, <u>https://www.bbc.</u> com/news/world-europe-45812399.
- 224. "Saudi Arabia: Events of 2023," Human Rights Watch, https://www.hrw.org/world-report/2024/country-chapters/saudi-arabia.
- 225. Gideon Rachman, "Why South Africa Matters to the World," *Financial Times*, February 12, 2018, https://www.ft.com/content/3ff7e280-0fd5-11e8-8cb6-b9ccc4c4dbbb.
- 226. Naledi Pandor and Jendayi E. Frazer, "A Conversation With Minister Naledi Pandor of South Africa," meeting, Council on Foreign Relations, Washington, D.C., September 14, 2022, <u>https://www.cfn.org/event/conversation-minister-nale-</u> di-pandor-south-africa-0.
- 227. Ganter, et al., *Listening Beyond the Echo Chamber: Emerging Middle Powers Report 2024*, 26; "South Africa Demands Permanent UNSC Seats, Veto Rights for African Nations," TRT World, https://www.trtworld.com/africa/south-africa-demands-permanent-unsc-seats-veto-rights-for-african-nations-18207615.
- 228. S'thembile Cele and Monique Vanek, "BRICS Expansion Wins Backing From South Africa's Ramaphosa," *Bloomberg*, August 20, 2023, https://www.bloomberg.com/news/ articles/2023-08-20/brics-expansions-secures-backing-from-south-africa-s-ramaphosa?in_source=embedded-checkout-banner.

- 229. Catherine Nzuki, "Africa's Peace Delegation: A New Chapter for Africa and the Ukraine War," Carnegie Endowment for International Peace, June 16, 2023, https://www.csis.org/ analysis/africas-peace-delegation-new-chapter-africa-andukraine-war.
- 230. Gustavo de Carvalho, "Africa's Potential Role in Mediating the Ukraine Conflict," in *Global Perspectives on Ending the Russia-Ukraine War* (Council on Foreign Relations, February 21, 2024), https://www.cfr.org/councilofcouncils/global-memos/global-perspectives-ending-russia-ukraine-war.
- "U.S. to Boycott Next G20 Meeting in South Africa," CBC, February 6, 2025, https://www.cbc.ca/news/world/us-rubio-south-africa-g20-1.7452009.
- 232. Interview with South Africa expert on July 15, 2024.
- 233. Cyril Ramaphosa, "South Africa's Strong Relationship with the U.S. Can Withstand Disagreements," *The Washington Post*, March 28, 2024, https://www.washingtonpost.com/ opinions/2024/03/28/ramaphosa-south-africa-us-partnership/.
- 234. Robert E. Hamilton, *The Dragon and the Bear in Africa:* Stress-Testing Chinese-Russian Relations (Foreign Policy Research Institute, November 2023), 9, https://www.fpri.org/ wp-content/uploads/2023/11/stress-testing-chinese-russian-relations-in-africa.pdf.
- 235. Alex Vines, "South Africa's New Coalition Government Heralds Change for the Region and Its Leaders," Chatham House, June 21, 2024, https://www.chathamhouse. org/2024/06/south-africas-new-coalition-governmentheralds-change-region-and-its-leaders.
- 236. Interview with South Africa experts in Johannesburg, South Africa, on August 5, 2024.
- Deon Geldenhuys, "The Comprehensive Strategic Partnership Between South Africa and Russia," *Strategic Review for Southern Africa* 37, no. 2 (2015): 118–145, https://www.up.ac. za/media/shared/85/Strategic%20Review/Vol%2037%20 (2)/geldenhuys-pp118-145.zp74595.pdf.
- 238. Christopher Williams, "South Africa's Pact with Russia and Its Actions – Cast Doubt on Its Claims of Non-Alignment," The Conversation, May 28, 2023, https://theconversation. com/south-africas-pact-with-russia-and-its-actions-castdoubt-on-its-claims-of-non-alignment-206020.
- 239. Niha Masih, "U.N. Resolution to End Ukraine War: How Countries Voted and Who Abstained," *The Washington Post*, February 24, 2023, www.washingtonpost.com/ world/2023/02/24/un-ukraine-resolution-vote-countries/.
- 240. Charles A. Ray, "South Africa's Naval Exercises with China and Russia: Cause for Concern?" Foreign Policy Research Institute, April 13, 2023, https://www.fpri.org/ article/2023/04/south-africas-naval-exercises-with-chinaand-russia-cause-for-concern/.
- 241. John Eligon, "The U.S. Ambassador to South Africa Accused the Country of Providing Weapons to Russia," *The New York Times*, May 11, 2023, https://www.nytimes.com/2023/05/11/ world/africa/us-south-africa-russia-weapons.html.
- 242. Cameron Hudson, "South Africa Policy Brief," working paper (Center for a New American Security, July 25, 2024).

- 243. Hamilton, The Dragon and the Bear in Africa Stress-Testing Chinese-Russian Relations, 11.
- 244. "Trade Statistics," South African Revenue Service, April 2024, www.sars.gov.za/customs-and-excise/trade-statistics/.
- 245. "South Africa's President Cyril Ramaphosa Officially Opens Huawei Innovation Centre, Describing It as a Boost for Local Innovation," Huawei, July 13, 2023, www.huawei.com/en/ news/2023/7/southafrica-innovation-centre.
- 246. Hudson, "South Africa Policy Brief."
- 247. Robbie Gramer, "Inside the Desperate Diplomatic Efforts to Salvage U.S.-South Africa Ties," *Foreign Policy*, July 19, 2023, https://foreignpolicy.com/2023/07/19/south-africa-russiaputin-ukraine-war-global-south-agoa-biden-diplomacy/.
- 248. Opposing the Republic of South Africa's Hosting of Military Exercises with the People's Republic of China and the Russian Federation, and Calling on the Biden Administration to Conduct a Thorough Review of the United States-South Africa Relationship, H.R. 145, 118th Cong. (2023), https://www. congress.gov/bill/118th-congress/house-resolution/145/ text?s=1&r=50.
- 249. Naledi Pandor, "Bringing South Africa to Its Knees Would Be Self-Sabotage for the US," *Financial Times*, April 5, 2024, <u>https://www.ft.com/content/291ee4aa-ccc9-4546-93dd-</u> 15d2154b027d.
- 250. The White House, "Addressing Egregious Actions of the Republic of South Africa," press release, February 7, 2025, https://www.whitehouse.gov/presidential-actions/2025/02/addressing-egregious-actions-of-the-republic-of-south-africa/.
- 251. Marco Rubio (@SecRubio), "I will NOT attend the G20 summit in Johannesburg. South Africa is doing very bad things. Expropriating private property. Using G20 to promote "solidarity, equality, & sustainability." In..." X, February 5, 2025, https://x.com/SecRubio/status/1887288685517021298.
- 252. Humeyra Pamuk, "US Says South African Ambassador's Remarks Were 'Unacceptable'," Reuters, March 17, 2025, https://www.reuters.com/world/state-department-says-south-african-ambassadors-remarks-were-unacceptable-2025-03-17/.
- 253. United Nations Convention on the Law of the Sea.
- 254. Pandor and Frazer, "A Conversation With Minister Naledi Pandor of South Africa."
- 255. "African Growth and Opportunity Act (AGOA)," Office of the United States Trade Representative, https://ustr.gov/ issue-areas/trade-development/preference-programs/african-growth-and-opportunity-act-agoa.
- 256. "South Africa Commences Preferential Trade Under the African Continental Free Trade Agreement," EY, February 9, 2024, https://taxnews.ey.com/news/2024-0369-south-africa-commences-preferential-trade-under-the-african-continental-free-trade-agreement.
- 257. Hudson, "South Africa Policy Brief."
- 258. Department of Trade, Industry and Competition, Republic

of South Africa, "South Africa Supports WTO Reforms That Promote Development – Deputy Minister Godlimpi," press release, July 27, 2024, https://www.thedtic.gov.za/ south-africa-supports-wto-reforms-that-promote-development-deputy-minister-godlimpi/.

- 259. "South Africa's Transnet Gets 5 Bln Rand Loan from BRICS Bank," Reuters, August 30, 2024, https://www.reuters.com/ world/africa/south-africas-transnet-gets-5-bln-rand-loanbrics-bank-2024-08-30/.
- 260. South African Government, "South Africa Signs Treaty on Prohibition of Nuclear Weapons," press release, February 25, 2019, https://www.gov.za/news/media-statements/ south-africa-signs-treaty-prohibition-nuclear-weapons-25-feb-2019.
- 261. Jo-Ansie van Wyk and Anna-Mart Van Wyk, The African National Congress and Apartheid South Africa's Nuclear Weapons Program, (The Wilson Center, November 23, 2020), https://www.wilsoncenter.org/publication/african-national-congress-and-apartheid-south-africas-nuclear-weapons-program.
- 262. Marwa Katir, "Reshaping Global Cooperation: A Conversation with South African Minister of International Relations and Cooperation Naledi Pandor," Georgetown University Walsh School of Foreign Service, October 18, 2023, https:// sfs.georgetown.edu/reshaping-global-cooperation-a-conversation-with-south-african-minister-of-international-relations-and-cooperation-naledi-pandor/.
- 263. "Freedom in the World 2024: South Africa," Freedom House, https://freedomhouse.org/country/south-africa/freedom-world/2024.
- 264. Jason Burke, "South African Judge Blocks Attempt to Withdraw from ICC," *The Guardian*, February 22, 2017, www.theguardian.com/world/2017/feb/22/south-african-judge-blocks-attempt-to-withdraw-from-international-criminal-court.
- 265. Stephanie Van Den Berg, "South Africa Defends Decision to Ignore ICC's Bashir Arrest Warrant," Reuters, April 7, 2017, www.reuters.com/article/idUSKBN1791FQ/.
- 266. Interview with South Africa experts on August 6, 2024
- 267. Gramer, "Inside the Desperate Diplomatic Efforts to Salvage U.S.-South Africa Ties"; UN Human Rights Council (@ UN_HRC), "#HRC53 | Draft resolution A/HRC/53/L1 on the cooperation with and assistance to #Ukraine in the field of human rights was ADOPTED." X, July 14, 2023, https://x.com/UN_HRC/status/1679847909569839104.
- 268. Klaus Jurgens "Re-Defining Türkiye's International Relations: Two Decades of 360° Foreign Policies," *Insight Turkey* 25, no. 3 (Summer 2023): 27–35, <u>https://www.insightTürkiye.com/</u> <u>commentaries/re-defining-turkiyes-international-rela-</u> tions-two-decades-of-360-foreign-policies.
- 269. "Turkey Gives Rosatom Go Ahead to Build Nuclear Plant," Reuters, June 15, 2017, https://www.reuters.com/article/ world/Türkiye-gives-rosatom-go-ahead-to-build-nuclearplant-idUSKBN1961TB/; "Commissioning Work Is Beginning at Akkuyu 1," World Nuclear News, April 9, 2024, https:// www.world-nuclear-news.org/Articles/Commissioning-work-is-beginning-at-Akkuyu-1.

- 270. "Exclusive: Turkey Saves \$2 Billion on Russian Oil as Imports Soar Despite Sanctions," Reuters, December 18, 2023, https://www.reuters.com/business/energy/Türkiye-saves-2-bln-russian-oil-imports-soar-despite-sanctions-2023-12-18/.
- 271. Sarang Shidore, "The Return of the Global South," *Foreign Affairs*, August 31, 2023, https://www.foreignaffairs.com/ world/return-global-south-critique-western-power.
- 272. "Turkey's Erdoğan Seeks to Increase Trade with Russia," *Barron's*, November 24, 2024, https://www.barrons.com/news/ Türkiye-s-Erdoğan-seeks-to-increase-trade-with-russiad1d2f1fa.
- 273. "Turkish President Meets Vladimir Putin in 1st Trip Since Failed Coup Attempt," ABC News, August 9, 2016, https:// abcnews.go.com/International/Türkiyes-Erdoğan-meetsputin-trip-coup/story?id=41231876.
- 274. Soner Cagaptay, "Türkiye in the Era of Great Power Competition," working paper (Center for a New American Security, April 23, 2024).
- 275. Sinan Ülgen and Temur Umarov, "Transatlantic Policies on China: Is There a Role for Türkiye?" Carnegie Endowment for International Peace, October 17, 2024, https://carnegieendowment.org/research/2024/10/transatlantic-policies-onchina-is-there-a-role-for-turkiye?lang=en.
- 276. Cagaptay, "Türkiye in the Era of Great Power Competition."
- 277. Ülgen and Umarov, "Transatlantic Policies on China: Is There a Role for Türkiye?"
- 278. Cagaptay, "Türkiye in the Era of Great Power Competition."
- 279. Matthew Lee, "US Approves F-16 Fighter Jet Sale to Türkiye, F-35s to Greece After Turkey OKs Sweden's Entry to NATO," Associated Press, January 26, 2024, https:// apnews.com/article/us-Türkiye-sweden-nato-ukraine-russia-02418dd7644bc8865fdafdff4c848dbd; "Turkey Formally Ratifies Sweden's NATO Membership, Leaving Hungary as Only Ally Yet to Endorse It," Associated Press, January 25, 2024, https://apnews.com/article/Türkiye-sweden-nato-ratification-expansion-3686af974e7f9238ee9698451e649ea9.
- 280. Eve Sampson, "With Syria in Flux, Turkish Forces Attack U.S.-Backed Forces," *The New York Times*, December 8, 2024, https://www.nytimes.com/2024/12/08/world/middleeast/ syria-Türkiye-kurds.html.
- 281. Ryan Gingeras, "Blue Homeland: The Heated Politics Behind Turkey's New Maritime Strategy," *War on the Rocks*, June 2, 2020, https://warontherocks.com/2020/06/blue-homeland-the-heated-politics-behind-turkeys-new-maritime-strategy/.
- 282. Federica Saini Fasanotti, "Turkey-Libya Energy Accord Riles Mediterranean Waters," GIS, December 6, 2022, https:// www.gisreportsonline.com/r/mediterranean-energy-conflict/.
- 283. Gingeras, "Blue Homeland: The Heated Politics Behind Türkiye's New Maritime Strategy."
- 284. Christopher Chivvis, Alper Coşkun, and Beatrix Geaghan-Breiner, "Türkiye in the Emerging World Order," Carnegie Endowment for International Peace, October 31,

2023, https://carnegieendowment.org/2023/10/31/t-rkiye-in-emerging-world-order-pub-90868.

- 285. "Türkiye," Trade and Economic Security, European Commission, May 21, 2024, https://policy.trade.ec.europa. eu/eu-trade-relationships-country-and-region/countries-and-regions/turkiye_en.
- 286. Kliman and Fontaine, Global Swing States: Brazil, India, Indonesia, Turkey and the Future of International Order, 25.
- 287. "The World Bank in Türkiye," World Bank Group, October 23, 2024, https://www.worldbank.org/en/country/Türkiye/ overview.
- 288. Asli Aydintasbas, "It's Time for American and Turkey to Reconcile," *Foreign Affairs*, June 6, 2024, https://www.foreignaffairs.com/united-states/its-time-america-and-Türkiye-reconcile.
- 289. Cagaptay, "Türkiye in the Era of Great Power Competition."
- 290. Kemal Kirişci and Onur Bülbül, "What's Behind Erdoğan's Apparent Support for the Liberal International Order?" Brookings Institution, October 9, 2018, https://www. brookings.edu/articles/whats-behind-Erdoğans-apparent-support-for-liberal-international-order/.
- Kliman and Fontaine, Global Swing States: Brazil, India, Indonesia, Turkey and the Future of International Order, 26.
- Kliman and Fontaine, Global Swing States: Brazil, India, Indonesia, Turkey and the Future of International Order, 26.
- 293. David E. Sanger and William J. Broad, "Erdoğan's Ambitions Go Beyond Syria. He Says He Wants Nuclear Weapons," *The New York Times*, October 20, 2019, https://www.nytimes. com/2019/10/20/world/middleeast/erdogan-turkey-nuclear-weapons-trump.html.
- 294. Cagaptay, "Türkiye in the Era of Great Power Competition."
- 295. Mustafa Akyol, "How China Coopted Turkey to Forsake the Uyghurs," Hudson Institute, January 26, 2022, <u>https://www.</u> hudson.org/node/44415.
- 296. Turkey: Hundreds of Refugees Deported to Syria (Human Rights Watch, October 24, 2022), https://www.hrw.org/ news/2022/10/24/Türkiye-hundreds-refugees-deported-syria.
- 297. Human Rights Watch, "Syria: Abuses, Impunity in Turkish-Occupied Territories," press release, February 29, 2024, https://www.hrw.org/news/2024/02/29/syria-abuses-impunity-turkish-occupied-territories.
- 298. 2022 Country Reports on Human Rights Practices: Turkey (Türkiye) (U.S. Department of States, 2022), https:// www.state.gov/reports/2022-country-reports-on-human-rights-practices/Türkiye/.
- 299. Council of Europe Commissioner for Human Rights "Turkey's Announced Withdrawal from the Istanbul Convention Endangers Women's Rights," public statement, March 22, 2021, https://www.coe.int/en/web/commissioner/-/Türkiye-s-announced-withdrawal-from-the-istanbul-convention-endangers-women-s-rights.

- 300. Elçin Poyrazlar, "Erdoğan's Main Rival Arrested in Major Clampdown on Turkish Opposition," *Politico*, March 19, 2025, https://www.politico.eu/article/tayyip-Erdoğan-main-rival-arrested-major-clampdown-turkish-opposition-ekrem-imamoglu/.
- 301. Emily Kilcrease and Geoffrey Gertz, "Launch Economic Security Agreements," Center for a New American Security, January 20, 2025, https://www.cnas.org/publications/commentary/launch-economic-security-agreements.
- 302. Robert D. Blackwill and Richard Fontaine, No Limits? The China-Russia Relationship and U.S. Foreign Policy (Council on Foreign Relations, December 2024), https://www.cfr.org/report/no-limits-china-russia-relationship-and-us-foreign-policy.
- 303. Robert M. Gates, "The U.S. Needs to Relearn How to Tell Its Story to the World," *The Washington Post*, April 16, 2023, https://www.washingtonpost.com/opinions/2023/04/15/ robert-gates-us-strategic-communications-russia-china/.
- Kliman and Fontaine, Global Swing States: Brazil, India, Indonesia, Turkey and the Future of International Order, 26.
- 305. Kliman and Fontaine, Global Swing States: Brazil, India, Indonesia, Turkey and the Future of International Order, 26.
- 306. Patricia I. Vásquez, "Brazil's Critical Minerals and the Global Clean Energy Revolution," The Wilson Center, October 2, 2024, https://www.wilsoncenter.org/article/brazils-critical-minerals-and-global-clean-energy-revolution; Anil Agarwal, "Critical Minerals and India's Role in Securing a Low Carbon Global Economy," World Economic Forum, January 17, 2025, https://www.weforum.org/stories/2025/01/critical-minerals-india-securing-low-carbon-global-economy/ "US Approaches Indonesia for Multinational Critical Mineral Partnership," Reuters, July 15, 2025, https://www.reuters. com/markets/commodities/us-approaches-indonesia-multinational-critical-mineral-partnership-2024-07-15/; "Saudi Arabia, US to discuss deal in mining, mineral resources, cabinet says," Reuters, May 6, 2025, https://www.reuters. com/world/saudi-arabia-us-discuss-deal-mining-mineral-resources-cabinet-says-2025-05-06/; Jackelyn Prager, "South Africa Has One of the World's Largest Manganese Reserves. So Why Does It Outsource for Processing?," CNN, April 30, 2024, https://edition.cnn.com/2024/04/30/africa/ manganese-south-africa-exports-electric-vehicles-batteries-spc-intl/index.html; and Buğra Süsler, "Locating Türkiye in Global Critical Minerals Competition Between East and West," China Global South Project, December 13, 2024, https://chinaglobalsouth.com/analysis/locating-turkiye-in-global-critical-minerals-competition-between-east-and-west/.
- 307. Interviews with experts and officials in Brazil and Indonesia in October and September 2024.
- 308. "Minerals Security Partnership," U.S. Department of State, https://2021-2025.state.gov/minerals-security-partnership.
- 309. Kliman and Fontaine, *Global Swing States: Brazil, India, Indo*nesia, Turkey and the Future of International Order, 26.
- 310. Lambrini Kolios, "Putting Business First: The Key to Advancing U.S.-Brazil Partnerships in Trade and Investment," U.S. Chamber of Commerce, February 13, 2025, https://www.uschamber.com/international/putting-business-first-the-key-to-advancing-u-s-brazil-partnerships-in-trade-and-investment.

- 311. "Brazil as a Global Swing State," private working group, Center for a New American Security, discussion held on September 19, 2024; Palácio do Planalto, "Chips, Cloud and Robotics: Brazil Commits BRL 186.6 Billion to Drive Industrial Digitalization," press release, September 11, 2024, https://www.gov.br/planalto/en/latest-news/2024/09/ chips-cloud-and-robotics-brazil-commits-brl-186-6-billion-to-drive-industrial-digitalization.
- Kliman and Fontaine, Global Swing States: Brazil, India, Indonesia, Turkey and the Future of International Order, 26.
- 313. Comments by Andrew Sanders on an earlier draft of this report.
- 314. The White House, "New Brazil-U.S. Partnership for the Energy Transition," press release, November 19, 2024, https://bidenwhitehouse.archives.gov/briefing-room/ statements-releases/2024/11/19/fact-sheet-new-brazil-us-partnership-for-the-energy-transition/.
- 315. The White House, "New Brazil-U.S. Partnership for the Energy Transition."
- 316. John V. Parachini and Vivek Mishra, "Boosting U.S.-India Private Sector Defense Industrial Cooperation," RAND Corporation, January 14, 2025, https://www.rand.org/pubs/ commentary/2025/01/boosting-us-india-private-sector-defense-industrial.html.
- Kliman and Fontaine, Global Swing States: Brazil, India, Indonesia, Turkey and the Future of International Order, 26.
- 318. Lisa Curtis, "Hold a Quad Summit," Center for a New American Security, January 20, 2025, <u>https://www.cnas.org/</u> publications/commentary/hold-a-quad-summit.
- 319. U.S. Embassy and Consulates in India, "United States India Joint Leaders Statement," press release, February 13, 2025, https://in.usembassy.gov/united-states-india-joint-leadersstatement/.
- 320. Rebecca Tan, "Escalating Contest Over South China Sea Disrupts International Cable System," *The Washington Post*, October 3, 2024, https://www.washingtonpost.com/ world/2024/10/03/south-china-sea-underwater-cables/.
- 321. Interview with government officials in Jakarta, Indonesia, on September 9, 2024.
- 322. Interview with government officials in Jakarta, Indonesia, on September 9, 2024.
- 323. United Nations Trade and Development Investment Policy Monitor, ""Omnibus Law" on job creation has been enacted," press release, November 2, 2020, https://investmentpolicy. unctad.org/investment-policy-monitor/measures/3567/ indonesia-omnibus-law-on-job-creation-has-been-enacted; Abi Mulya, "Semiconductor Industry in Indonesia: Outlook and Opportunities," Invest in Asia, January 28, 2025, https:// investinasia.id/blog/semiconductor-industry-in-indonesia/.
- 324. Gusty Da Costa, "Rosan Stresses Indonesia's 8-Percent Growth Target by 2029 at World Bank Event," *Indonesia Business Post*, February 11, 2025, https://indonesiabusinesspost.com/3686/capitol-influence-and-lobbying/rosanstresses-indonesia-s-8-percent-growth-target-by-2029-atworld-bank-event.

- 325. Gusty Da Costa, "Expanded Military Cooperation Strengthens Indonesia-U.S. Security Ties," Indo-Pacific Defense Forum, April 2, 2025, https://ipdefenseforum.com/2025/04/ expanded-military-cooperation-strengthens-indonesia-u-s-security-ties/.
- 326. "The United States President's Emergency Plan for AIDS Relief," U.S. Department of State, <u>https://www.state.gov/</u> pepfar/.
- 327. Joshua Meservey, "To Change South Africa's Behavior, Target ANC Officials," *Hudson Institute*, March 3, 2025, <u>https://</u> www.hudson.org/security-alliances/change-south-africas-behavior-target-anc-officials-joshua-meservey.
- 328. All figures on private investments in this report were provided by Global Quantum Intelligence, LLC, on May 5, 2025, for the exclusive use of the CNAS Technology and National Security Program. All figures are based on the GQI Factory data model—which combines scraping of publicly announced numbers with human intelligence data gathering and rigorous labelling and classification—and provided via the GQI Intelligence Platform. Note that the figures represent venture capital investments in startups and exclude corporate investments in internal quantum technology programs. To the best of GQI's knowledge, these figures represent the best approximation of real-world trends. "GQI Platform."

About the Center for a New American Security

The mission of the Center for a New American Security (CNAS) is to develop strong, pragmatic and principled national security and defense policies. Building on the expertise and experience of its staff and advisors, CNAS engages policymakers, experts and the public with innovative, fact-based research, ideas and analysis to shape and elevate the national security debate. A key part of our mission is to inform and prepare the national security leaders of today and tomorrow.

CNAS is located in Washington, DC, and was established in February 2007 by co-founders Kurt M. Campbell and Michèle A. Flournoy. CNAS is a 501(c)3 tax-exempt nonprofit organization. Its research is independent and non-partisan.

©2025 Center for a New American Security

All rights reserved.



AMERICA'S EDGE 2025

The United States faces a rapidly changing global security landscape. Evolving technology, shifting alliances, and emerging threats require America to harness bold, innovative approaches. America's Edge is a Center-wide initiative featuring research, events, and multimedia for enhancing America's global edge.

CNAS Editorial

DIRECTOR OF STUDIES Katherine L. Kuzminski

PUBLICATIONS & EDITORIAL DIRECTOR Maura McCarthy

SENIOR EDITOR Emma Swislow

ASSOCIATE EDITOR Caroline Steel

CREATIVE DIRECTOR Melody Cook

DESIGNER Alina Spatz

Cover Art & Production Notes

COVER ILLUSTRATION Mark Harris

COVER IMAGES Getty Images

PRINTER CSI Printing & Graphics Printed on an HP Indigo Digital Press

Center for a New American Security 1701 Pennsylvania Ave NW Suite 700 Washington, DC 20006

Contact Us 202.457.9400 info@cnas.org

CEO Richard Fontaine

Executive Vice President Paul Scharre

Senior Vice President of Development Anna Saito Carson



Center for a New American Security